# Institut für Höhere Studien (IHS), Wien Institute for Advanced Studies, Vienna

Reihe Politikwissenschaft / Political Science Series No. 60

# Market building, polity building, and community in the European Union

**Josef Melchior** 

# Market building, polity building, and community in the European Union

### **Josef Melchior**

Reihe Politikwissenschaft / Political Science Series No. 60

February 1999

Institut für Höhere Studien Stumpergasse 56, A -1060 Wien Fax: +43-1-599 91-171

Dr. Josef Melchior Phone: +43-1-599 91-168 e-mail: mel@ihs.ac.at

# Institut für Höhere Studien (IHS), Wien Institute for Advanced Studies, Vienna

The Political Science Series is published by the Department of Political Science of the Austrian Institute for Advanced Studies (IHS) in Vienna. The series is meant to share work in progress in a timely way before formal publication. It includes papers by the Department's teaching and research staff, visiting professors, graduate students, visiting fellows, and invited participants in seminars, workshops, and conferences. As usual, authors bear full responsibility for the content of their contributions.

All rights are reserved.

Die **Reihe Politikwissenschaft** wird von der Abteilung Politologie des Instituts für Höhere Studien (IHS) in Wien herausgegeben. Ziel dieser Publikationsreihe ist, abteilungsinterne Arbeitspapiere einer breiteren fachinternen Öffentlichkeit und Diskussion zugänglich zu machen. Die inhaltliche Verantwortung für die veröffentlichten Beiträge liegt bei den AutorInnen. Gastbeiträge werden als solche gekennzeichnet.

Alle Rechte vorbehalten

Editor: Josef Melchior

# Abstract

The central argument detailed in the paper is that European integration will only become sustainable in the long run when the problem of developing a political community of European citizens is directly addressed. Contrasting the historical development of the West-European nation states with the conditions in the EC/EU the conclusion is drawn that a community of European citizens cannot and need not be based on a programme of state and nation building. Instead, a political community of European citizens could be founded on more recent political achievements and the integrative mechanisms of modern federally organized political systems in general: common citizenship, a democratic and participatory structure of governance, a more balanced distribution of labour between the national and the European level in substantial policy areas, combined with a pro-active strategy of protecting multinational diversity and tolerance.

### Note

This study is part of the project "On a European Union of Citizens", commissioned by the Austrian Federal Chancellery.

# Contents

- 1. Introduction 1
- 2. The discovery of the citizen 3
- 3. Concepts and practices of community building in the EC/EU 8
- 3.1 Community building by market integration? 9
- 3.1.1 The logic of market integration 10
- 3.1.2 The community of market society 14
- 3.2 Community building by polity integration? 16
- 3.2.1 The logic of polity integration 16
- 3.2.2 The community of law 20

# 4. The limitations of community in the EC/EU 24

- 4.1 The limitations of market integration **24**
- 4.2 The limitations of polity integration **26**
- 4.3 The limitations of Union citizenship 27

# 5. Perspectives of community building in the EC/EU 30

5.1 Beyond instrumental community **31** 

# 6. Foundations of political community 34

- 6.1 The nation state legacy of political community 35
- 6.2 The conditions of community building in the EC/EU 41

# 7. Building blocks for a political community of European citizens 45

- 7.1 The cultural dimension **45**
- 7.1 The political dimension **48**
- 7.1.1 Reinventing democracy 48
- 7.2.2 Integrating the citizenry 52
- 7.2.3 Enhancing problem-solving capabilities and political responsiveness 53
- 8. Conclusion 56
- 9. References 61

# 1. Introduction

The search for a European community of citizens can be formulated as the problem of building a novel form of "political community" in the specific context of the European Union. The concept of a "political community" – in contrast to the every-day usage of the word and particularly to the discourse on European integration – refers to the material but also the symbolic bonds that hold an aggregate of people together and that allow them to perceive themselves as equals who share the same rights and obligations, who are willing to act together, to take into account the position of the "other", and to work toward some sort of a "common good".

The nation state is the prototypical political community of today's political world. In the Western hemisphere the modern state became the nucleus and organising centre of the newly established political communities. The concept of "nation" served as the ideological cornerstone for the delineation and homogenisation of the formerly heterogeneous people which entered into close relationship with the emerging modern state. The "nation state" is the result of a historical process in the course of which the two distinct concepts of "state" and "nation" became amalgamated to such an extent that today it is often impossible to distinguish the two. Nevertheless, the concepts of state and nation denominate quite different aspects of social reality and the existing nation states differ widely with respect to the historical sequence in which state and nation became fused, to which of the two concepts is preponderant, and also concerning the concrete content and characteristics of the notion of state and nation (see Woolf 1996; Jenkins/Sofos 1996).

Though, nationalism was only one element of how modern "political communities" came into being and became integrated. State and nation are not self-sufficient means for creating political communities. Their development was from the very beginning intermingled with economic transformation and specific political projects like enhancing power and controlling resources. Later on, to a growing extent the nation state relied on democracy and welfare-protection to respond to the changing standards of legitimacy and to integrate the political community. The meaning and relevance of nationalistic ideology particularly changed in the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century making the nation state more open and more inclusive by extending certain categories of rights to foreigners residing within the territory of the country. Furthermore, the experience of "multinational" and "multicultural" states demonstrates that political communities can also be established without relying on unified nations (see Shain/Linz 1995; Linz/Stepan 1996).

The EU is strongly committed to preserve the nation states as well as the distinct national cultural heritage of its Member States. So there are quite a number of lessons the European Union can learn from individual experiences. The question of "statehood" immediately arises as a second obstacle for the European Union to develop into a political community in the above

mentioned sense. Even if one admits that the process of polity integration in the EU has progressed quite far, the EU falls short of representing a (federal) state in many respects (see Bogdandy 1993; Taylor 1996). Therefore the question arises in how far and in what respects European integration has succeeded in the creation of a political community not only of states but also of people(s).

The paper has two main objectives: The first objective is to reconstruct the practices of community building in the EC/EU, to analyse the underlying concepts of community which informed its development, and to point to specific deficiencies, inconsistencies, and conflicts inherent in the adopted strategies. The second objective is to explore the foundations of community the nation state relies on with a view to identifying those elements which could be used and adapted to promote a community of citizens in the framework of the European Union.

In a first step, we will distinguish between different stages of market and polity integration. Market and polity integration are closely related processes but nevertheless have to be separated for analysis. The integration of markets is not a naturally evolving process but had to be initiated and promoted politically. Political institutions were established who supervised, furthered and guided the integration process. Market integration had particular effects on how the European peoples became related to one another through the mechanisms of market exchange. The characteristics of the type of community that was thereby evolving will be explored under the notion of a European "market society".

Integrating markets by political means did also affect the structures of governance at European as well as on national level. Therefore we will look at the complementary process of polity integration, which follows its own logic. It will be shown how the means and instruments of market integration "spilled over" into the political sphere contributing not only to institutional growth at the European level but also to the "pooling" of sovereignty of the Member States and to a considerable degree of integration of the separate polities of the Member States. It will be demonstrated that the bonds which were thereby created between the European peoples are primarily of a legal nature. The institutions of market society and law will be assessed in regard of their capacity to contribute and stabilise a community of European citizens. The limitations of the given structures and mechanisms will lead us to an examination of additional and/or alternative sources of community in the European Union.

The second part of the paper will investigate the nation state legacy of community building. The nation state represents in its prototypical form a rather "thick" type of community which is founded on the capacities of the state to combine, control, and promote within its territory culture, economics, democracy, and welfare which thereby became "nationalised". Comparing the conditions which led to the development of nation states with the conditions given in the European Union we come to the conclusion that the prospects of developing a European community of citizens depend on a selective recombination of certain integrative elements

which can also be found at the nation state level. In contrast to the nation state level a European community of citizens will have to rely less on cultural and social homogenisation but on distinctive political means of integration. Such integrative means consist of balancing a "politics of identity" at European level with a "politics of difference" in the cultural sphere, enhancing in-put and out-put legitimacy by democratising the European Union and improving its problem-solving capacity, and they consist of promoting political equality between all European citizens.

Developing a political community of European citizens is a contested project which is neither indispensable nor very likely to occur automatically as integration proceeds. The wish to let the citizens participate more directly and to involve them in the process of European integration grew out of the perception that not only popular acceptance of the planned steps of integration is decreasing. It is also the result of concerns regarding the acceptability of the kind of politics which was propelling European integration in the 1990s. Advancing a political community of European citizens would help to legitimate those political projects of "deepening" and "widening" which are under way in the European Union. Complementing the projects of monetary union and Eastern enlargement with an explicit policy of promoting a political community of substantiate the claim that the process of European integration does not only rest on functional imperatives and state interests but is also directed at establishing an ever closer union of the European peoples.

# 2. The discovery of the citizen

It was not until the signing of the Maastricht Treaty that the citizens became a focus of political attention at European level and in the political discourse on European integration. Two main reasons account for this development.

First, soon after the decision to finalise the common market in 1985 preparations started to develop market integration even further towards a common currency. It has long since been common knowledge among economists and politicians involved in European integration that creating a common market would make the economies of the Member States much more interdependent. Consequently, there will be a growing need for co-ordination of economic and monetary policies of the Member States. In June 1988, the commission was entrusted by the European Council of Hannover to develop a plan for the establishment of an Economic and Monetary Union (EMU). An intergovernmental conference (IGC) was going to be convened at the end of 1990 which aimed at preparing the third stage of EMU and adapting the Rome Treaty.

Only then proposals were put forward by the European Parliament (the so-called Martin Report) to enlarge the agenda beyond EMU and "rapidly to transform the European Community into a European Union of a federal type" (cit. in Laursen/Vanhoonacker/Wester 1992, 5). A proposal to convene a second IGC aiming at institutional reform was tabled by the Belgian Foreign Minister on 20 March 1990 in a Memorandum which was subsequently taken up by the Italian Foreign Minister leading to a joint letter from President Mitterand and Chancellor Kohl to run two parallel conferences. The second one should become the IGC on Political Union which started on 14 December 1990. It was agreed that the IGC on Political Union should pay particular attention to the questions of democratic legitimacy, European citizenship, effectiveness and efficiency of the Union, the common foreign and security policy, and to extending and strengthening community action.

The establishment of a Political Union was not the objective of all the Member States' representatives from the very beginning. Particularly the UK and Portugal hesitated to support the plan but subsequently also Italy and France, who in the first place were among the pioneers of promoting Political Union, became reluctant to set the necessary steps. It was the particular political situation in the period 1989/90 with the break-down of the communist block and German unification that raised concerns about the future role of Germany in Europe. The project of Political Union was therefore also interpreted as an effort to permanently lock Germany into a common European political framework (see Laursen/Vanhoonacker/Wester 1992, 7–11).

Once the project of Political Union had been put on the agenda one had to face the question of how to relate the institutions of the European Union to the people and how to involve the citizens more directly in its development. First steps in this direction were taken by establishing a parliamentary Committee on Petitions by the Single European Act, by enhancing the role of the European Parliament, introducing the concept of Union citizenship, and establishing a European Ombudsman by the Maastricht Treaty. These developments were interpreted either as a major achievement on the road to a supranational political society (see Marias 1994, 1–24; 1994a, ix–x) or as mere symbolic politics as is suggested for instance by the hesitant and incomplete implementation of many of the provisions relating to Union citizenship (see EC 1997.)

However, the new provisions on the one hand gave rise to heightened expectations by human rights and grass-roots activists to gain more influence in European affairs. On the other hand, the new concern with democratic legitimacy and citizenship opened opportunities for the European Commission and the European Parliament to take initiatives aimed at informing the European citizens about their rights<sup>1</sup> and thereby enhancing its public visibility and improving

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On 26 November 1996 the Commission launched an information campaign called "Citizens first". It was one of three campaigns undertaken in 1996 by the Commission in partnership with Parliament and in tandem with national information campaigns. The campaign targeted "everyone living in the European Union so that as many

the Commission's often bad public image as a centralised, intrusive and intransparent bureaucracy.

In its first report on Union Citizenship the EC declared that "(f)or the first time, the Treaty has created a direct *political* link between the citizens of the Member States and the European Union such as never existed with the Community, with the aim of fostering a sense of identity with the Union" (EC 1993, 2). The inclusion of the paragraphs on Union Citizenship were interpreted as opening the door for new efforts of building a community of citizens from "above". The Commission is looking for strategic partners in this respect. In a communication on "Promoting the role of voluntary organisations and foundations in Europe" the Commission points out that "the part that voluntary organisations play in strengthening a sense of citizenship and providing a means for its expression is of growing importance at the European level. Indeed, they have an active part to play in creating a sense of European citizenship as mentioned in Article 8 of the Treaty on European Union. Voluntary organisations and foundations have long fostered international contact and understanding between peoples and are now showing a keen interest in the part citizens have to play in the forging of the European Union and in giving substance to the citizen's Europe" (EC 21.11.1997, 5).

A second reason why the question of community became so prominent in the political rhetoric in recent years is the growing public attention paid to questions of European integration. The public debate advancing the ratification of the Maastricht Treaty was one of the most intense compared to previous steps of integration. This is due to the far-reaching implications of pooling sovereignty by introducing a common currency and by transferring the instruments of monetary policy to the European level but also due to a number of events that drew public attention to the problems of European integration. Some governments even held that the move to delegate monetary policy to an independent European central bank should be approved by a referendum. Coincidentally, the decisions of the governments of Denmark, UK and Ireland to hold such a referendum stirred up opposition, and critical assessments of the Treaty spread into the public. The Danish rejection of the Treaty in the first referendum on 2 June 1992 was followed by a series of events that seemed to challenge the project as a whole. The monetary crises of September 1992, the narrow French vote in favour of the Treaty, the controversial parliamentary debate in the UK, the questioning of the compatibility of the Maastricht Treaty with the German constitution, and the collapse of the Exchange Rate Mechanism (ERM) in the

people as possible become aware of the rights and opportunities they enjoy as a result of the single market and other EU policies and can obtain factual information on how to put them into practice" (Bulletin EU 11–1996, point *1.3.225.*).

The Commission claims that in the first year the campaign reached some 75 million people and over 1 million people used the free phone numbers and the Internet site to obtain guides and factsheets concerning their rights to work, live, and study in another EU country (DG XV, http://europa.eu.int/comm/dg15/en/update/citizen/1035.htm, 25.11.97).

summer of 1993 undermined the confidence in the cohesion of the community (see Vanhoonacker 1994).

The rising public awareness did not even come to a halt after the Maastricht Treaty entered into force on 1 November 1993. The negotiations with Sweden, Finland, Norway, and Austria concerning their accession to the European Union, public concerns about rising unemployment levels, the implementation of convergence programmes throughout Europe in order to qualify for entering the third stage of EMU, and the preparations for a second IGC kept the question of European integration on the agenda. Particularly the post-Maastricht-crises signified the end of the so-called "permissive consensus" that allowed the governments to complete the common market and to co-ordinate their policies in an arena hardly recognised by the electorate and the broader public (see Reif 1993).

The politicisation of the integration process added a new dimension to the preparatory work for the IGC. The questioning of the legitimacy of the steps taken in Maastricht enhanced the Member States' governments sense of urgency to tackle the "democratic deficit". It led to a widespread acknowledgement of the need for greater transparency, the need to differentiate between the Member States willing to integrate more quickly and the others which were not, of the potential importance of the principle of subsidiarity, to find a new institutional balance of a more durable kind expecting more countries to join the EU in the foreseeable future, and last but not least, to prepare and present the agreements to the public with greater attention to the latter's sensibilities and priorities (see Ludlow/Ersboll 1994, 3-5). So it came as no surprise that "bringing the European Union closer to its citizens" became one of the main objectives of the 1996 IGC (see Melchior 1997).

An overall assessment of the Amsterdam Treaty shows that in the above mentioned respect the governments primarily aimed at improving the effectiveness and efficiency of policies that may have a positive effect on the individual citizens and to open up new areas for the coordination of national policies which are of utmost importance for growing portions of the population. The first part concerns what has been labelled as the "progressive establishment of an area of freedom, security, and justice" in the draft treaty of Amsterdam (Conf/4001/97, Section I). It aims primarily at realising the free movement of persons throughout the territory of the Member States within a five-year period and encompasses flanking measures with respect to external border controls, asylum and integration, judicial and administrative co-operation, and measures to combat crime.

Section II of the draft treaty was titled "The Union and the citizen" and gathered the provisions on employment, social policy, environment, public health, consumer protection, other community policies (ranging from the citizenship of the Union, to culture, public service broadcasting, and animal welfare), subsidiarity, transparency, and the quality of community legislation. Bringing together these diverse policy areas under the above mentioned heading was a move of symbolic policy signalling to the public that the governments and the EU are both concerned with the improvement of policies to the service of the citizens. The direct relationship between the Union and the individual citizen was only marginally addressed in the Amsterdam Treaty which aimed primarily at improving the legal protection of the individual citizen in a limited number of cases (Hilf 1997).

The discourse on building a community of citizens is embedded in the above sketched context and therefore closely connected with diverse political strategies pursued by different political actors. Two views regarding the new emphasis on the inclusion of the citizenry of the European Union can be discerned from what has been said above.

On the one hand, there is the perspective of the community institutions particularly the EP and the EC. By addressing the citizens they want to establish a direct link between the community institutions and the individual citizens. Seen from this perspective it is part of a marketing campaign that seeks to convince the individual citizen that the community institutions are not only part of an anonymous political machinery in Brussels but tangible institutions that offer services the individual citizen can profit from. By approaching the individual citizens providing information and support in the enforcement of their rights as Union citizens the community institutions also court for the loyalty of the citizens trying to convince them that supporting the EU institutions and the idea of European integration is worthwhile. Such a strategy is based on the fact that on the individual level there is a positive relationship between knowledge, level of education, and support for European integration (Anderson 1995; Bosch/Newton 1994). A third aspect of these policies is the inducement of a sense of identity and belonging among the citizens of the Union which is often seen as a prerequisite for further moves of integration, particularly concerning further shifts of competencies towards the Union level, strengthening the community institutions, and democratising the decision making process.

On the other hand, there is the perspective of the governments of the Member States who are primarily concerned with the production of policies that appeal to their publics respectively voters. From the perspective of the national governments it is their space for political manoeuvring, reaching compromises, and policy co-ordination at the European level which is at stake when the public mood is turning against European politics and when the established structures of co-operation are questioned. This is clearly reflected in the new chapter on employment. It is only to a small degree about conferring new competencies to the central level but has a lot to do with the need of national governments to demonstrate to their national audiences that they use the European Union to find solutions to problems they cannot solve at home. Paradoxically enough, the chapter on employment only defines common aims and

objectives while emphasising that the means and instruments to realise them should stay with the Member States.<sup>2</sup>

The political discourse on the Union and the citizen is loaded with claims to legitimacy. It is about legitimising the institutions of the European Union and it is about legitimising national governments and their policies. What is less obvious is that it is also a debate about the proper role of the citizens in the European Union and – by implication – about the kind of community the European Union should represent. It is this question I will *focus* on in the following chapters.

# 3. Concepts and practices of community building in the EC/EU

If one looks at the terminology used one gets the impression that European integration is primarily concerned with community building. From the very beginning all projects of integration referred to the building of a "community": the European Coal and Steel Community of 1952, the failed plan of creating a defence community in 1954, leading soon after to the creation of the European Atomic Energy Community and the European Economic Community in 1957, which was then renamed by the Maastricht Treaty into the European Community. The inflationary use of the term community smeared its meaning rather than clarifying it.

The question what kind of community the EC/EU represents was and is a contested one. Any discussion about the "nature" of the EC/EU's status starts with two propositions: first, that it is based on the co-operation of nation states and that the integration of their economies was the starting point and the main focus of their co-operation. What is not so clear is how the existing institutional arrangements should be best and most adequately classified, whether there exists any particular "finalité" or end-state the community aims at, how the relationship between the constituent elements and the community can be grasped, and how the individual citizen is related to these developments. Most accounts of the development of the EC/EU focus on the relationship between the Member States and the community institutions. They are concerned with the balance of power between the two levels, with the locus of sovereignty, and with the structure of the polity or regime that evolves. I do not want to give an account of the vast literature dealing with these questions here. What I want to do instead is to describe the peculiar concepts of community that emerged in the development of the EC/EU with particular

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Article 126 of the consolidated version of the treaty establishing the European Community reads: "Member States, through their employment policies, shall contribute to the achievement of the objectives referred to in Article 125 in a way consistent with the broad guidelines of the economic policies of the Member States and of the Community adopted pursuant to Article 99(2)."

reference to the type of relationship thereby established between the citizens of the EU.<sup>3</sup> The intention is to depict different models of community that informed the development of the EC/EU so far and which define the (re-)sources and conditions any further move towards a "community of citizens" has to take into account.

I will trace the development of community concepts in two different, but closely interconnected dimensions. The first dimension is that of "market integration", the second that of "state " or "polity integration". Market integration refers to the integration of former separated markets into one market where the flow of all factors of production is not hindered by institutional or political obstacles.

"State " or "polity integration" refers to the integration of former separated nation states into a united political system in which sovereignty is executed jointly and in which policies are formulated and implemented in a co-ordinated fashion. In the context of the European Union "polity integration" refers to the formation of a new set of institutions at the European level and the adaptation of the Member States to this new institutional environment. "Polity integration" refers to institution building, co-operative decision-making, implementation of decisions, and control of the authorities involved in this process. The term polity integration is preferred to the term state building because it is more general and it does not suggest that the development of the EU follows the course of the modern state nor that the EU will become a state in the traditional sense ever soon.

### 3.1 Community building by market integration?

When the direct approaches to federalise the European state system failed in the early 50ies it became clear that the second best option would be to proceed by extending the model of the European Coal and Steel Community although a different approach was adopted. The Treaty of Rome created the European Economic Community together with the European Atomic Energy Community. The basic idea – and that with the greatest impact – was the idea to create a common market that covers the whole of trade and not just one sector like the ECSC. The aim to create a common market seemed less directly to threaten national sovereignty and appealed to economic liberals, businesspeople, and industry alike. The integration of markets held the promise to improve the welfare level of all and to improve European competitiveness in comparison to the US (see Pinder 1991, 7–11).

The important point was that the envisaged integration of markets could either be interpreted as an aim in itself which appealed to certain sectors of the economy and certain governments who hoped to exploit the benefits of a larger market or it was seen as a first step of integration that would "spill-over" from the economic to the political area at least in the long run (Schneider

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The term "citizen" refers to the individual members or subjects of the Member States abstracting from their legal status. No reference is therefore made to the particular status of "Unioncitizenship" or "nationality".

1977, 264–267, 361–365). Such was the hope and strategy of Robert Schumann, Jean Monnet and, last but not least, Henry Spaak, one of the architects of the Rome Treaty (see Küsters 1993). Nevertheless, it only was possible to win the approval of all six governments by designing the Rome Treaty in such a way that the envisaged steps of economic integration seemed profitable from the point of view of all participants which was not an easy task to accomplish given the diverging interests (see Milward 1995, 196–223).

### 3.1.1 The logic of market integration

Although the Rome Treaty and all successive steps of integration were the result of complex compromises one can detect a certain logic in the development of the European Community at least in retrospect. It is the "logic of market integration" as I would like to call it. This logic consists of various stages of integration. The merging of markets was approached in a stepwise manner passing various levels of integration whereas one stage of integration presupposes achievements on a previous stage of integration although in reality it is possible to move on to a higher stage of integration even if not all measures belonging to the previous stage have been fully realised. Four logically distinguishable stages have to be passed before the integration of former separated markets can be completed. These stages comprise of a free trade area, a customs union, a common market, and a monetary union (see Moussis 1997). What is interesting from the perspective of community building is what kind of commonalties these different stages of integration bring about. The aim of this chapter is to assess the scope and limits of a community concept which is based on the achievements of market integration.

The model of a free trade area. In such an area, member countries abolish import duties and other customs barriers to the free flow of manufactured products. Each country retains its own external tariff and its customs policy vis-á-vis third countries. It also retains entirely its national sovereignty. This is the model chosen by the EFTA-countries who did not want to join the European Community in the first instance but wanted to skim off the advantages of extended markets. In such an area the need for mutual adaptation of national institutions or rules guiding the production, distribution or consumption of goods is minimal. In contrast, all national regulations regarding technical or safety standards have to be met in order for foreign products to be allowed to enter the domestic market. The capacity to create a community of people in a mere free trade area is almost nil.

The model of a customs union. In such an area, the free flow of goods is extended to include all products. In addition, a common external tariff to third countries is applied. In order to manage the common customs tariff a common commercial policy is needed which implies already an important surrender of national sovereignty. This is not only true in terms of competencies that have to be delegated but also in organisational terms, because some institutions have to be created that take over the responsibility to co-ordinate the respective commercial policy. The effect of such a move in regard of creating commonalties among the

citizens that participate in such an open market for products is also rather restricted because the main difference in comparison to the free trade area is the scope of the products covered and the harmonisation of commercial policies which effect primarily third parties.

The model of a common market. A common market is characterised by the free flow not only of products, but of all factors of production, particularly capital, services, and labour. In order to ensure the free movement of all factors of production a wide range of policies have to be approximated to guarantee the free movement of employed persons, the freedom of establishment of undertakings and self-employed persons, the freedom to provide services, and the free movement of capital. Moreover, to ensure that the common market works efficiently a further move of "pooling" sovereignty at the European level is likely to occur. If one has the feeling that for various reasons particular sectors of the economy should get special treatment one has to develop a common policy like in agriculture or towards fisheries. To ensure equal economic conditions throughout the common market a common competition policy will be needed and one will easily be pressed to harmonise support policies or even tax policies because they influence competition.

These policies will have a major impact on the existing national communities because they affect the individual in its role as producer and consumer and as employer, employee, or entrepreneur. The influx of new products of all different kinds and qualities together with new styles of marketing and advertising will influence mass consumer culture. To the degree that such a wide range of policies will have to be adapted and/or commonly developed the members of the national communities will be confronted with other ways of thinking, with other traditions, other ways of doing and evaluating things. They will recognise the need to adapt and to learn in order to compete in a dynamic market. This is most obviously the case when the mobility of persons increases and people with different cultural and national backgrounds mix.

The mutual adaptation of ways of living and consuming and the interest on sustaining a high level of economic exchange which occurs in a common market is sometimes referred to as the "civilising effect of markets". It is an incremental and slow process that takes place in society. Society taken in its classical liberal meaning as an aggregate of individualised and atomised economic agents who interact on the basis of voluntary contracts that guarantee the equality and reciprocity of exchanges. In the course of their interaction the participating parties get acquainted to their foreign counterparts, get to know about their traditions and practices, and may even develop friendly sentiments. At a minimum it is said that the civilising effect of markets leads to tolerance and peaceful coexistence.

The model of economic and monetary union. As long as currency fluctuations and the exchange risk persist the common market is not a single unified market. Barriers to trade still exist. If the optimal conditions for production are to be created in a common market one will feel inclined to establish a monetary union. The introduction of a common currency implies a

common monetary policy and the close co-ordination of economic policies at least if one is interested in a smooth functioning of the market.

The effect of such a union on the existing communities that enter it will largely depend on their level of economic development. The free flow of the factors of production not being mediated by the exchange rate will increase competitive pressures and asymmetric economic shocks will have a direct effect on wage policy and they will have to be absorbed primarily by the labour market. Rich countries with a high level of social protection fear that they may be compelled to lower their standards in reaction to competitive pressures and that they will have to bear the costs if asymmetric shocks hit (poor) countries (see Scharpf 1997). This is why the question of convergence has become so hotly debated: if convergence is required before monetary union is achieved the costs of adjustment will have to be borne by the respective countries if it is to occur after monetary union there is the risk that the costs will be externalised (see Breuss 1997, 169–174). Establishing monetary union between states with divergent economic cycles and structures is likely to create tensions not because it directly affects the nature of the existing communities but because it impinges on the socio-economic and welfare position of various groups in different countries.

It will have taken the EC/EU nearly 50 years to run through all the stages of market integration. It was not until 1968 that the customs union was established. It took until 1993 that the common market was realised and it will take another 10 years until monetary union will take effect according to the time-table. Although the basic steps have been taken, it is not to say that all the measures have already been implemented (see European Commission 1996). Much remains to be done to put into effect an internal market which comprises "an area without internal frontiers in which the free movement of goods, persons, services and capital is ensured" (new Art. 14 ECT).

Although the merging of markets has a long-term effect on the communities whose markets are integrated these effects were not noticed by the public for a long time. This is due to the fact that the policies that had to be harmonised or adapted in the course of economic integration were rather of a technical nature, limited in scope and "negative" in character. The term "negative integration" was coined to indicate that the integration of markets was done primarily by withdrawing interventions in national markets that were seen as disturbing competition and by removing barriers to the free movement of the factors of production. Compensatory measures or "positive" steps to manage the ever more integrated market did not occur to the same extent (see Kapteyn 1996, 62–66; Streeck 1996, 299–315).

The reason is that the measures of "negative integration" had a sound bases in the Treaty of Rome and one could make use of the supranational institutions and particularly of supranational law to put them into practice. Any positive step of common policy making ranging from harmonising the tax-system to macro-economic policy was and is in many cases dependent on the consent of all governments which is much harder to achieve. It is this institutional imbalance that can explain why the development of economic policy to manage the common market and of any other common policy on the European level lacks behind the development of a larger market that is less regulated than many of the separated markets were before they have been integrated (see Scharpf 1997, 365–368).

As long as freeing the market was closely correlated with high growth rates which allowed the expansion of the welfare state in many countries integration proceeded undisputed. With the Single European Act and the Maastricht Treaty the situation changed. Not only were growth rates low as has been the case since the 70ies but also the "intervening state" and the "welfare state" came under pressure in part also because of the systemic effects of the liberalising policies that sprang from the European level.

"Mutual recognition" is the single most important feature underlying this new dynamics. It simply states that standards and norms considered acceptable in one of the EC countries will have to be accepted in all others. The term "mutual recognition" already appears in the Rome Treaty but gained political influence only after the "Cassis de Dijon" (1978) decision of the European Court of Justice. Although the European Court of Justice did not use the term "mutual recognition", it was used by the Commission to re-launch the common market project in the early 80ies and thereby going well beyond the meaning of the Court's judgement. More importantly, the Commission was able to manufacture agreement on the desirability of "mutual recognition" as a principle in a political process of mobilisation and bargaining between states and interest groups (see Wincott 1996). The significance of all this lies in two facts: first, it allowed to shift away from the laborious and time-consuming policy of harmonising national legislation thereby speeding up the process of complementing the common market and secondly, Europeans have accepted direct interaction and competition between national regulations and tax structures without creating the political institutions with which a transfer of sovereignty of that order had always been associated.

European integration proceeded along the lines of market integration creating a liberal market regime in which the national systems of regulation and economic intervention eroded. With growing competition, diminishing growth rates, and huge public deficits the social systems of the nation states came under stress. "The biggest lesson of the past twenty years is that social policy cannot operate independently of the national economy" (Parry 1995, 395). Under conditions of regime competition Member States may feel compelled to enter into a vicious cycle of lowering social standards and welfare provisions which affect the relative cost of the factors of production in order to secure the growth prospects for their national economies (see Scharpf 1994b, 99–103). This applies particularly to charges and taxes on labour and capital. As Giandomenico Majone has put it bluntly: "Globalisation and, more immediately, economic and monetary integration within the European Union, are eroding the very foundation of the positive state: its power to tax (or borrow) and spend" (1997, 142).

Freeing labour and capital of those burdens undermines the financial basis of the system of social security and deprives the state of the means to finance the welfare system out of the budget. It is disputed to what extent this development is the result of "globalisation", particularly the globalisation of capital markets (see Streißler 1997) and to what extent it is attributable to the design of the common market (see Bieling/Deppe 1996). However, the quest for new solutions at the national as well as on the European level has intensified. Whatever strategy may be adopted in the future the costs of restructuring will be considerable affecting the material position and interests of large portions of the population.

What can be concluded from the above discussion is that European integration followed to a large extent the logic of market integration culminating in a partly deregulated common market with a high degree of capital mobility but a low degree of labour mobility, and increased competition not only in the market but also between national systems of regulation.

### 3.1.2 The community of market society

Implicit in the logic of market integration is the vision of creating a market society in which the individuals enjoy their economic freedoms. What they should share is primarily the believe in a legal and institutional framework that guarantees the proper functioning of the market. This framework consists in the case of the EU primarily of policies which aim at securing fair and efficient competition throughout the integrated market and a monetary policy determined and executed by an independent European Central Bank, which is exclusively oriented towards (price-) stability. This corresponds to the hard core of Union policies developed so far. The model of market society allows in theory for a large degree of autonomy to be granted to the nation states. Given the level of centralisation and pooling of sovereignty necessary to run a deregulated market the Member States should be free to develop any policy they wish.

In practice, the consequences of being bound together by the above mentioned framework on the one hand limits the capacity of the state to devise policies which place a heavy burden on the national budget. This can easily be illustrated by the austerity policies implemented in most of the Member States after signing the Maastricht Treaty. On the other hand, the growing interdependence of the economies and the ongoing negotiations between Member States on the European level create incentives to harmonise or at least to accommodate ever more areas of public and economic live.

The question where exactly to draw the line between the competencies that are required to guarantee the efficient functioning of the common market is contested. The common view holds that culture and education should fall within the competencies of the Member States. This is also reflected in the provisions of the Treaty of Maastricht, which allotted certain competencies to the Community in the field of culture and education but explicitly added limitations to their execution. In addition, the principle of subsidiarity received a prominent place with a view to

hindering any more centralisation to occur (see Everling 1994; Bitterlich 1994). More important and also more disputed is the question whether the functioning of a European market society requires the development of instruments of macroeconomic stabilisation and redistributive policies on the European level. Macroeconomic stabilisation policies would be concerned with the promotion of satisfactory levels of economic growth, employment, and price stability. Redistributive policies refer to transfers of resources from one social group to another and the provision of "merit goods" like elementary education and health care (Majone 1997, 150–151).

One line of argument is that macroeconomic stabilisation policies and redistributive policies should remain the competence of the Member States because they presuppose huge amounts of money the EU is not able to dispose of and because the development of welfare-state institutions at the EU level would reinforce popular feelings against centralisation, bureaucratisation, and technocratic management, instead of generating a sense of supranational solidarity. "[...] (T)he delicate value judgements about the appropriate balance of efficiency and equity, which national social policies express, can only be made legitimately and efficiently in fairly homogeneous polities. It is difficult to see how socially acceptable levels of income distribution and of provision of merit goods could be determined centrally in a community of nations where stages of economic development as well as political and legal traditions are still so different" (Majone 1997, 160).

The opposing view holds that globalisation deprives the nation state of its capacity to secure the already achieved level of social protection and to tame the capitalist economy. The solution would lie in increasing the capacity of the EU to act politically by transforming it into a fullyfledged federation and to rebuild the welfare state at the European level (see Scharpf 1994b, 104-105). This option is likely to fail under the given circumstances. "The really decisive obstacles, however, are two: first, the legitimacy problem [...]; and, second, the problematic coexistence of an integrated European market and, soon, monetary union with a system of states which still preserve a large measure of their national sovereignty, their different legal orders, their systems of administration and separate citizenships. It is, in my opinion, a serious mistake to assume that the integration of national markets entails a gradual growth of common welfare policies and institutions. On the contrary, close economic and monetary integration among sovereign states is only possible if the political and economic spheres are kept as separate as possible" (Majone 1997, 161). Following this reasoning the European Union has to be founded on a European-wide market society backed by bonds between individuals which will be provided and sustained by the respective national societies. From this perspective any attempt to foster a European community of citizens is either unnecessary or bound to fail.

However, this judgement rests on the assumption that the nation states are unwilling to cede larger parts of their sovereignty to the supranational level. Although this may be true for the time being, it raises the question to what extent the process of political integration itself has

created the conditions for adding the Union to the nation states as a second instance that can lay claim to the support and loyalty of its citizenry.

### 3.2 Community building by polity integration?

The Treaty of Rome did not only lay the foundations for a range of policies and goals which the contracting parties agreed to promote together but it also gave birth to a set of new institutions and it invented new legal instruments which were designed to assist the member governments in achieving these goals. I do not intend to recapitulate the development of the institutional system and its shifting balance nor do I want to describe the different concepts that were developed to pin down the particular relationship between the community system and the Member States. What I want to do instead is to highlight those aspects and developments that are important in order to understand how the citizens became related to one another through the community system.

In contrast to the notion of market integration it is less clear in what respect the establishment of the community system represents a form of integration of the polities of the Member States. The reason for this is that it is difficult to identify in the political realm an equivalent to the notion of the free movement of the factors of production and to define the borders of the polity that may be blurred in the process of integration. An alternative approach is needed which is primarily concerned with identifying those steps by which a new polity is constructed out of existing polities. This is what might be called the logic of polity integration.

### 3.2.1 The logic of polity integration

The integration of former independent and autonomous polities or states is a complex process which is dependent on situational and motivational factors that explain why the wish to integrate occurs at all and which account for its (lack of) dynamism (see Schneider/Hrbek 1980, 218–226). A whole bunch of hypotheses in this regard were formulated by the traditional integration theories (see Welz/Engel 1993). The limited purpose of sketching the logic of polity integration in the European Union in this paper is to indicate those dimensions in which polity integration takes place. The basic idea is that there are two extreme poles: the pole of isolated states which co-operate only on the basis of international law and the pole of a single new state which replaces the former independent states. In between there is a continuum of situations in which the single states have to find their place within a new overarching political structure. If it is possible to find a balance between the constitutive entities and the new unit that combines them, we speak of a federal system.

A federal system is characterised by the existence of at least two political systems which enjoy a great deal of autonomy and a political structure that allows them to govern themselves. The second element is an overarching political structure that may consist of governmental institutions of the same type as exist in the Member States but which exercises authority over its constitutive units. The units are involved in decision making at the federal level by institutions that represent the Member States as units and the citizens of both units as well. A federal system is distinguished from a unitary state in the last instance by the fact that in a federal state any formal shift of competencies has to be accorded by both levels. The scientific use of the concept of a "federal system" may not be confounded with the term "federalism" that is used in the European context because the meaning changes according to the national background in which it is applied. Most commonly the term "federalism" is used to signify an end-state of the development of the EU when its political structures would resemble those of the US or Germany (see Hesse/Wright 1996).

**Institutional growth**. Institutional growth refers to the creation and development of new institutions to which the autonomous political entities delegate certain tasks and the metamorphosis of existing political structures (from national parliaments to political parties and interest groups) to encompass the newly created polity space. Starting from a core set of institutions they give birth to ever more institutions, organs, and agencies which grow in number, differentiate, diversify and which consume ever more resources including money, facilities, and persons.

The Community has experienced quite an amount of institutional growth since its inception. Nevertheless, in comparison to any of the Member States e.g. the organisational system is still small. The Commission has a total number of about 20.000 permanent officials and the Community budget is less than 1,2% of the combined GDP of the Member States and about 2,4% of their total public expenditure (see Spence 1994, 65; Nugent 1994, 340). This signals that the Community will never replace the administrative structures of the nation states which developed over a period of several hundred years. The same is true for the other institutions. Although there was an impressive growth in the number of transnational interest groups particularly following the Single European Act (see Kohler-Koch 1996) and political parties adapt slowly to the new political environment (see Gaffney 1996) the European institutional system seems to rest solidly on its roots in the nation states.

What is not excluded by these observations is that the Community institutions will sooner or later be able to function as the centre in a federal setting overarching its constitutive units. Taking into account the numerous national bureaucrats and experts who are involved in either preparing or implementing EU policies it becomes clear that the EU is already now an integral part of the day to day experience of major parts of the national administrations. The participation of national civil servants in the administration of EU policies makes it ever more difficult to measure the institutional growth of the EU's institutional system. The encroachment of EU policies on the national administrative systems leads to an amalgamation of the two levels to the effect that the institutional growth can no longer be measured by the growth of the Union organs alone. One has to take into account the number of civil servants and the number

of administrative units which are involved in the EU business at the national level as well making the growth of the institutional system of the EU even more impressive. Institutional growth is also initiated by the interaction of national courts, individual litigants, and the ECJ (see Hunnings 1996, 121–151).

Shifting power. In order to determine the relationship between the Community and its constitutive units one has to look for the distribution of power between the two levels. In order to measure the relative power of the two levels one has to take into account on the one hand the scope of tasks and competencies acquired by the Community institutions and the degree to which the institutions on one level have control over or are able to condition the actions of the institutions on the other level. In a situation in which the institutions are engaged in a zero sum game integration would occur if the Community institutions would be the winners. If both levels would gain in a positive sum game integration would also occur because the complexity and the degree of interdependence of the whole system would increase.

The question how much power has shifted to the Community level is not easy to answer because it depends on a detailed analyses of what has been coined the "institutional balance" (see Wallace 1996). The common view is that the decision-making system has preserved its "intergovernmental" character meaning that the Member State governments are still controlling the policy making process. This may be conceded in the fields of "high politics" like CFSP and in the field of "constitutional" politics like revising the founding treaties (see Moravcsik 1991) but also in some of these fields things are changing (see Melchior 1997). In the fields of "low politics" in which the Community is primarily engaged on a day to day basis governmental actors are confronted with a growing network of transnational actors and expertise which weakens national sovereignty (see Richardson 1996). Growing complexity of the power structure signifies a growing degree of interdependence and hence of integration.

Shifting competencies. The growth of Community competencies is a long-term trend that has often been asserted (see Wessels 1992) and which is a clear signal of political integration. Three sources can be identified that contribute to this dynamic: First, the télos of market integration can only be achieved by the harmonisation and adaptation of a huge amount of regulations at the European level. Second, the growing interdependence between the Member States and external challenges are strong incentives to intensify co-operation in areas which are only indirectly related to the primary goals of promoting economic growth and rising the standard of living (e.g. the field of Home and Justice, social policy or science, and technology policy). This is a typical example where the neo-functionalist hypothesis of "spill-over" applies. Paradoxically, such "spill-over" is more likely to occur if a definitive intergovernmental setting of decision making is adopted in the first place as has been the case when the "pillar structure" was designed for the Maastricht Treaty. The explanation is that the Member governments are more inclined to pool their sovereignty when they feel that they stay in control even when the competencies have been shifted to the Community level. Third, the Community institutions

exploit the often vague language and the teleological character of many of the Treaty provisions to invent new competencies in order to expand the scope of the Community system and the legal activism of the ECJ adds momentum to this process.

The long term trend of shifting competencies is composed of the above-mentioned developments which have their own timing and which run across each other. The tides and lows of market integration depend to a large degree on external economic developments like the crash of the Bretton-Woods-System and the oil crises in the 70ies or the globalisation of the economy and increased global competition which contributed to the relaunch of the common market initiative in the 80ies. The second element of spill-over is dependent on the progress of market integration and of events in the international environment alike which culminated in the beginning of the 90ies and led to the introduction of CFSP and the Home and Justice pillar. Only the third aspect of institutional activism has a constant effect on the accretion of Community competencies. That the principle of subsidiarity was emphasised in the Maastricht and also in the Amsterdam Treaty has sometimes been interpreted as reversing the direction of integration (see Zellentin 1993). In fact, it corresponds more to putting on the brakes while racing down the hill. Besides the scope and amount of competencies the Union has acquired, it is important to note that the expansion has been rather selective concentrating on regulatory policies ranging from product standardisation to environmental protection but is less accentuated in areas of social policy, health care, or education (see Majone 1997, 143).

**Shifting legitimacy.** As a consequence of the expanding scope of competencies of the Community the sheer number of decisions increases that originate from the supranational level and deserve legitimisation in addition to the authority structure responsible for those decisions.

The formal legitimacy of the Community system rests basically with the treaties which means that the consent of the Member States' governments and of the national parliaments is required before the Treaty enters into force and in specific cases also referendums are held to approve of a revised Treaty. Once a Treaty becomes effective, decisions are taken at the European level depriving the democratic national political institutions to a large extent of their capacity of controlling them. In most cases the burden of legitimising European decisions before the segregated national publics then rests with the governments' representatives in the Council of Ministers. When decisions are taken by unanimity then they are at least indirectly legitimised via democratically elected national governments who speak for their citizens. When decisions are taken by majority voting then it is possible that the decisions may not be backed by the virtual consent of a group of citizens on which the decisions are imposed because their representative may have opposed it. Such a minority position is only acceptable as part of a democratic game but not of an intergovernmental setting.

Legitimising decisions is as much a matter of the authorities as it is of its subjects. Therefore, it is essential to determine which political entity enjoys the loyalty of its members. One of the

expectations formulated by neo-functional integration theory was that the loyalties of political actors and citizens alike would gradually shift from the Member States to the European level to the extent to which important decisions are transferred to the new centre (see Haas 1958). Only to the degree that this is really the case the European institutions would qualify for contributing to the legitimacy of the Community.

The European Assembly, which adopted for itself the title European Parliament in 1962, was supposed to fill this gap by compensating for possible democratic loopholes that may occur by the use of majority voting in the Council. In addition, several other institutions like the Committee of the Regions and the Economic and Social Committee were assigned the task of representing particular interests at the European level. Their roles are nevertheless quite limited. Only the EP managed to increase its influence on European decisions to a considerable extent making it after Amsterdam a partner of the Council of nearly equal standing. Nevertheless, there are many indicators that the loyalty of the citizens rests until now primarily with the nation state level, which has given rise to a legitimisation gap that will not easily be filled.

The European Union is engaged in a process of polity integration which follows federal lines. What has not yet been answered is the question how the citizens are involved in this process and on what concept of community the process of polity integration in the EU is founded.

### 3.2.2 The community of law

One of the outstanding features of the EC/EU system is that it created a novel legal system in the realm of international law. In the course of its development an enormous amount of legal norms and decisions have been produced by the Community system which is referred to as the "acquis communautaire". The aim was to create a unified legal space throughout the Community in which the equal application of the norms should be guaranteed. This development was only partially founded in the Rome Treaty. It was the European Court of Justice, which gradually developed certain doctrines in its case law that became universally accepted in the Community. The ECJ also established a number of subjective rights that were guaranteed and protected at Community level.

#### The supranational character of community law

A cornerstone in the establishment of the supranational character of Community law was the developent of the doctrines of "direct effect" and "supremacy" of Community law. The doctrine of "direct effect" was first developed in the famous Van Gend case of 1962 and was subsequently extended to a wide range of Treaty articles and to many categories of Community secondary legislation. It means that Community law does not rely on national implementing legislation but is directly applicable in the Member States constituting subjective rights that can be enforced

through the (national) courts. It does not only oblige the Member States but also the individuals who may rely on Community laws even to redress against national governments which fail to live up to their Community obligations. To many observers it came as a surprise that the doctrine of direct effect of Treaty provisions passed more or less uncontested by the Member States (Wincott 1996, 172).

The doctrine of "supremacy" of Community law appeared soon after in the Costa case (1964). It stated that Community law prevails even when it contradicts provisions of national law and even of national constitutional law. Moreover, Community law does not only derogate existing legislation but also obliges national legislators not to adopt new laws in areas in which the Community has become active. The doctrine of "supremacy" was not readily accepted by the national courts but led to a lengthy process of negotiation between the ECJ and particularly with the courts in Italy, Germany, and France. It was questioned that Community law should be allowed to take precedence even over protection of human rights in national constitutions. To avoid this unpleasant prospect and to protect the doctrine of supremacy the ECJ departed from its previous refusal to read human rights into the Treaty and established human rights protection as a fundamental principle of Community law. "Ironically, the European Court subsequently turned this difficulty to its advantage and developed a body of case law on human rights, which allowed it to add considerable *gravitas* and legitimacy to its claim that the Treaty of Rome should be regarded as a constitution" (Wincott 1996, 174).

Through these doctrines and others which followed the ECJ promoted the "constitutionalisation" of the Treaties (see Mancini 1991). By now the treaties are more or less generally perceived as the constitution of the Community, as the basic legal framework comparable to constitutions at Member State level. By this process the ECJ managed to break up the traditional unity of the sovereign nation states and to merge the national and the Community legal systems into a new entity (see Bogdandy 1993). This development took shape in a co-operative manner involving not only the ECJ, but also national courts, individual litigants, lawyers, and sub-state actors (see Mattli/Slaughter 1996; Pernice 1995), which explains why the supranational character of the Community's legal system was at least tacitly accepted by the Member States. Nevertheless, the "supranational" character of the Community legal system has also recently been challenged by the German constitutional court in its 1993 ruling preceding the ratification of the Maastricht Treaty (see Weiler 1995).

It is the "supranational" character of the legal system (see Weiler 1981), on which claims to the creation of a new European polity primarily rest. It is argued that the Community system constitutes direct legal relationships between citizens and Community institutions, which until then has been a distinguished feature of states. Though it is admitted that the Community is not a state, it has to be considered at least as a political community or polity in the making. Some infer from this that the constituency of the Community is not only composed of the Member States but also of the "peoples" and in the last instance of the "citizens". From this

perspective the fact that the Member States are still the "Masters of the Treaty" only reflect a situation in which the citizens' participation in many respects is mediated by state actors and that this mediation has to be overcome (Pernice 1995, 524–525).

The emergence of citizenship

A second element of building a community of and by law which can be detected is the expansion of the scope of rights conferred upon citizens. Following the first necessary step to establish direct effect and supremacy of Community law the Community had developed an instrument to affect the citizens directly – subjective rights.

Initially, the Rome Treaty provided for certain economic rights, such as the free movement of persons, goods, the right of establishment, and some social rights like the right to equal pay for men and women. But the rights it provided for could not be used by the nationals of Member States to assert subjective rights protected by the courts as long as the Member States insisted that they themselves were the sole subjects of Community law. After the ECJ had established their above mentioned doctrines, the situation changed.

In the sixties and mid-seventies the ECJ developed in its case-law a set of subjective rights based on the four fundamental freedoms and backed by the goal of establishing the Common Market. But the ECJ did not stop there. Ironically, it was a decision of the German constitutional court – the so-called Solang I Decision of 1971 – which triggered the ECJ to go beyond the economic and social sphere and to build case-law on fundamental Community rights. The result was that the ECJ granted nationals of Member States the status of "market citizen" (see Marias 1994, 4). This status was derived from the ECJ's view that fundamental rights were enshrined in the general principles of Community law. The ECJ established some further principles that should help to work out the precise content and scope of fundamental rights granted to the market citizens. The Court held:

- that the protection of fundamental rights should be inspired by the constitutional traditions common to the Member States;
- that international treaties, such as the Eurpean Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms can supply guidelines which should be followed by the Court and which can serve as a source of inspiration for the Community concept of fundamental rights.

The ECJ used its role to interpret these general principles to spell out the particular rights of the market citizen. At the core of these rights were those created by Community legislation like the four economic freedoms, the right of non-discrimination on grounds of nationality, and some social rights like the rights of health and safety at work, rights on transfer of undertakings, pregnancy and maternity rights. The growth of these rights was to some degree dependent on the expansion of the scope of competencies of the Communities and to some degree on the ECJ's interpretation of which rights have to be protected in order to guarantee the functioning of the Common Market.

But the Court also established "fundamental rights" which he derived from the non-economic principles cited above. The Court gave rulings that limited the Member States rights to expel Community nationals and which asserted the citizens rights to a fair hearing, to privacy, the privilege against self-incrimination, to non-retroactivity of penal provisions, and to legal remedy (see Burca 1996, 32; Marias 1994, 4). By such rulings the ECJ constituted a set of traditional civil rights protected and respected at Community level.

But the development did not stop here. Since the EP is directly elected the Community concept of market citizen was opened up to reach well into the sphere of politics. The development of political rights for Community citizens closely follows the logic of institutional growth and power shifting. An important development in this regard was the introduction of "Union citizenship" introduced by the Maastricht Treaty. "Union citizenship" can be regarded as another step to constitutionalise the rights – based status the market citizens had already achieved. Union citizenship did add some positive political rights like voting rights in European Parliament and local elections, to petition the European Parliament, to apply to the European Ombudsman, and to seek diplomatic and consular protection by any Member State under certain conditions.

Nevertheless, the concept of Union citizenship has been criticised for its lack of substance and for its dependence on the nationality of the Member States (see Closa 1995; Weiler 1997). From the view of community building this is important because Union citizenship acknowledges that the Community is not merely an instrument for market integration but is also part of polity integration, that the exercise of public power by the Community has to be founded on the consent also of the individual citizens and that the citizens of the Union should enjoy an equal status of rights in face of Community institutions.

# 4. The limitations of community in the EC/EU

In a period of nearly 50 years the EC/EU succeeded to make substantial progress in integrating its market and in developing a political structure that underpins that development. This development came about in an incremental and contested way, it was not founded on convergent perceptions but on a dialectic of interest intermediation and inter-institutional dynamics. The state of integration now reached may not conceal that specific inconsistencies exist and the concepts of community underlying the development of the EC/EU have been put into practice rather incompletely.

### 4.1 The limitations of market integration

Market integration rests on an instrumental conception of community which is based on welfare economics. According to this view a larger and freer market helps to exploit the comparative advantages of production of the different regions leading to a more efficient allocation of resources and to a higher level of overall economic growth. This kind of reasoning seemed convincing and led to a higher growth rate inside the Economic Community than in other parts of Europe particularly in the 60ies and early seventies (see Breuss 1992). The prospect of higher growth rates was also an important motive behind the Common Market initiative and played an important role in the discussion in the new Member States about joining the EC/EU (see Schneider 1990, 97–113). It is not by accident that only Norway relying on its huge natural resources rejected to enter the EC/EU in a popular referendum.

Even if the same arguments apply, the positive effects of market integration are not as obvious today than they were in the 60ies. Low growth rates and rising unemployment throughout Europe make the economic rational of market integration appear less convincing because it relies on counter-factual arguments that cannot be tested directly. Some experts even argue that European integration was completely dependent on the good economic climate during its early years. Economic stagnation will therefore probably lead to disintegration. The opposite view holds that only a united European market may create the conditions for competing in a globalised market. Such reasoning is based on the synergy created in the field of research and development and by a common currency which could compete with the currency areas of dollar and yen.

Furthermore, market integration has led to an uneven distribution of economic benefits between capital and labour. This is due to the higher mobility of capital and a general shift in the balance of power between capital and labour to the latter's disadvantage. The likely effect will be that ideological tensions between labour and capital will intensify and that the convergence of economic policy doctrines that helped to realise the Common Market in the early 80ies may be reversed. Such reversal will intensify the conflict over the question how to shape and frame the European market society. Conflicts may arise along various lines: between interventionist and

neo-liberal conceptions of market society, between rich and poor countries, and concerning the social dimension.

The first set of conflicts concerns the proper role of the Community in regulating the market. Although it says in the Treaty that an economic and monetary union is going to be established, the economic instruments available at Community level are hardly developed. Governments are split in regard of the degree taxes, in particular corporate taxes, should be harmonised, regarding infrastructural projects that should be financed at the European level like the transnational networks, and regarding the question of establishing a system of financial transfers between regions, etc. Of particular concern is the role the Community should and could play in fighting unemployment. The inclusion of the employment chapter in the Amsterdam Treaty was initially particularly resisted by the German government. It was criticised on the one hand by those who saw the danger of opening a door which would lead to interventionist policies at Community level and too much political intervention on the Community level and on the other hand by those who questioned the effectiveness of its provisions.

The second set of conflicts concerns the level of social and environmental regulation to be accorded at Community level. This question affects the costs of production in rich and poor regions in the Community. The competitive advantage of poor countries with a low level of economic development rests on cheap labour costs and low environmental standards. A harmonisation of social and environmental standards at a high level would push many of the undertakings in poor countries out of the market therefore increasing the economic discrepancies between the Northern and Southern regions in Europe (see Scharpf 1996).

The social dimension of the European market society poses problems as well. The role the Community should play in protecting the welfare states in Europe is contested. Those supporting a more active role of the Community argue that the Community e.g. should make social concerns an issue in international negotiations on market liberalisation like in the WTO. The Community should only allow those products to enter the Common Market which were produced adhering to some minimal social standards. Concerning the inner dimension of the Common Market, it is contested whether and to what extent the Community should regulate in the areas of working conditions, minimal pay, working hours, workers participation, and the like.

The point is that market integration raises several highly conflictual questions which market society cannot solve by its own. One possible solution could be to confine those conflicts to the national level. Such a solution seems difficult to achieve since it is particularly the competitive dynamics at the European level which undermines the capability of the nation states to act effectively. If those problems should be dealt with at the European level, it is

doubtful whether the bonds of community provided by market society will suffice to find sustainable and acceptable solutions.

### 4.2 The limitations of polity integration

The relation between market integration and political integration has been a source of conflict from the very beginning. One group primarily consisting of the "federalists" conceived of market integration as an instrument to achieve the final goal of overcoming the nation states and to build a "United States of Europe" (see Wistrich 1991). But also from the point of view of those who think that it is the integrated market which needs a political counterweight, the Maastricht and Amsterdam treaties failed to reform the institutions and to proceed with the "deepening" of the Union to the necessary extent.

For others, political integration in the EU has already gone too far. Institutions like the EP and other representative institutions should step back in favour of national parliaments in regard of legitimising the policies on the EU level, and the Commission and the ECJ should be limited and controlled more closely by the governments of the Member States. What they particularly disapprove of is the claim that has been put on the agenda by the Maastricht Treaty that the Community should be complemented by a political union. Reservations in this regard were uttered particularly by the British and Danish governments, but are shared by other member governments as well.

However, it is unclear what political union means in the minds of the different parties. There are those who maintain that building a political union necessarily entails the involvement of the individual citizen. They criticise that the development of the Community has been for too long already an elitist endeavour limited to politicians, business circles, and lobbyists. They demand that, on the one hand, the representative political institutions of the Community should be strengthened and that, on the other hand, political rights have to be further developed. Strengthening the EP would add another cornerstone to the institutional growth and power shifting that is part of the ongoing polity integration on the European level. Looking at the institutional development, namely "that there was a symbiotic relationship between the growth of the Community and the nation state. Any assertion of the former was likely, in the pattern of the historical evolution of the latter, to be accompanied by its countervailing development. Thus was the symbiotic relationship between the collectivity and the Member States" (Taylor 1996, 97).

If one examines the role attributed to the EP by the Amsterdam Treaty, one can formulate the rule that the EP was given the right of co-decision in most of those areas were the Council is going to decide by majority (see Petite 1998, 20–21; BKA/BMaA 1997, 21–22). It also became evident that the EP will not become the single legislative organ in the Community. The current

situation resembles a rather federal set-up in which the Council may be seen as the chamber representing the Member States and the EP representing the European people(s) (see Europäische Strukturkommission 1994, 40–41). Such a two-chamber like system would best fit the basic architecture of the EU reflecting the constitutive elements of peoples and states the EU is founded on. Giving the EP predominance over the Council would overstretch its legitimising power because national identities and the nation state are still the main sources of loyalty and legitimacy for the exercise of public power in Europe (see Kourvetaris/Kourvetaris 1996, 158–161).

### 4.3 The limitations of Union citizenship

Concerning Union citizenship the limitations of the current approach are manifold. First, the status of Union citizenship is ambivalent. Citizenship is ordinarily seen as the substrate of the republican principle of the sovereignty of the people who constitute a polity. Although Union citizenship gives the impression that it constitutes such a link among the European citizens and among the citizens and the Union, in fact it does so only to a limited extent.

- Union citizenship is not a constitutive element of the Union, which would imply that the Union were based on a unified body of citizens. Union citizenship appears as something that is granted by the authority of the Union to the citizens, not a substantial and unconditional right in itself. This is reflected in the subordinate role of the EP in processes that led to the amendment of the founding treaties<sup>4</sup> and in the fact that the development of Union citizenship is dependent on an unanimous decision of the Council and ratification by the Member States according to their constitutional provisions (new Art. 22).
- Union citizenship does not constitute a distinct set of rights reserved for Union citizens. On the one hand, it states that every person holding the nationality of a Member State shall also be a citizen of the Union. On the other hand, it states that citizens of the Union shall enjoy the rights conferred by this Treaty and shall be subject to the duties imposed thereby (new Art. 17). Since many of those rights are not confined to Member State nationals, it is not clear what the privileged status of Union citizenship exactly consists in and why, on the other hand, it should be reserved for Member State nationals only (d'Oliveira 1994, 147).
- The fundamental principal of equality of citizens is violated since the acquisition and loss of Union citizenship is regulated differently among the Member States which leads to unequal treatment of the would-be members of the Union (Marias 1994, 15). The lack of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the IGC 1996/97 the EP was involved in the process although not in the negotiations to a considerable extent providing it with the possibility to air its views and to raise the aspirations of the Conference (see Petite 1998, 4).

uniform electoral procedure to the EP could also be interpreted as impinging on the equality of citizens since it results in an unequal weight of individual votes depending on the place of residence and the mode of representation which is used in the various Member States. The latter point could nevertheless be justified on the grounds of diversity and subsidiarity: the national peoples should be allowed to chose the kind of representation they think is appropriate for them.

- Although it appears that the rights of freedom of movement and residence are granted to all Union citizens, it is bound to limitations, thus undermining the universal character of citizenship. In fact, it only partially unties the right of residence from economic activity (see Closa 1992, 1142–1143) and makes it conditional on secondary Community rules and limitations based on considerations of public order, public security, and public health (see Closa 1995, 497). The same is true for the right to vote and to stand for a public office in municipal elections, which is granted by Union citizenship. Directive 94/80/EC for municipal elections for example allows Member States to reserve the posts of mayor and deputy mayor to their own nationals since they often exercise state devolved functions such as, for instance, overseeing the local police forces, which are perceived as belonging to the very core of national sovereignty.
- The protection of the Citizen's rights in the second and third pillar through the ECJ is limited although the Amsterdam Treaty embodies some improvements.<sup>5</sup> " [...] this means that no rights and duties are imposed on individuals outside the Community Pillar or that whatever rights and duties were created would not, in the intention of the States, be enforceable" (Weiler 1997, 279).

Second, the reach and added value of the rights of Union citizenship are limited.

- The rights enshrined in the chapter on Union citizenship do not comprise the Union as such but are sometimes restricted to matters "which come within the Community's field of activity" as in the case of the right to petition the European Parliament (new Art. 194 TEC). In this respect the wording of the Citizenship chapter falls behind the Parliament's rules of procedure, which refer to the Union's sphere of activity (European Commission 1997, par. 3.1).
- The rights conferred upon the citizens only to a certain extent go beyond what had already been granted by the EC Treaty. The symbolic significance of Union citizenship is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the third pillar, which is reserved for matters relating to criminal law and the police, the court will be able to review the legality and interpretation of acts although its power to give preliminary rulings must be accepted individually by each Member State. Some uncertainty regarding the Courts jurisdiction comes with the new legal instrument of "framework decisions", which explicitly "shall not entail direct effect" (new Art. 34 2b TEU). The Court has no jurisdiction to review operations relating to the maintenance of law and order and the safeguarding of internal security (new Art. 35 TEU).

that it assumes a political relationship between the citizens and the Community institutions which implies that the authority of the Community should also be legitimised by the unified body of the citizens. There is only one genuine new political right to be found in the treaties: the right to vote and to candidate at municipal elections (new Art. 19 TEC). The right to vote and to candidate in elections to the European Parliament in the Member State in which one resides does not add to the existing voting rights but rather complicates the adoption of a uniform procedure for the elections to the European Parliament (see d'Oliveira 1994, 137–138). As the situation is now, additional conditions apply which in certain cases infringe on the equality of access to European elections.<sup>6</sup>

- The right of association and freedom of expression could be interpreted as pre-conditions for the participation in EP elections but they are not covered by Union citizenship. In some Member States the political activity of non-nationals is subject to a number of conditions, such as the prohibition of becoming a member of a political party or a general obligation of political neutrality which conflicts for example with the rule that is applied in some Member States where only political parties are entitled to present candidates for European Parliament and local elections (see European Commission 1997, par. 1.4).
- The capacity of the EU to enrich the list of human rights is limited. The level of protection of human rights at national level and by international conventions is already quite high (see H\u00e4berle 1997, 82–84). Notwithstanding that it would make sense to enhance the level of protection of human rights in the EU by joining the European Convention on Human Rights there is the danger of inflating the language of rights. Particularly in the field of social rights the Union is dependent on the resources which are at its disposal to guarantee that the expectations which are raised will be fulfilled thus setting limits to founding Union citizenship predominantly on an ever expanding bundle of rights.

Third, Union citizenship in its current form is limited in its capacity to "make the process of European integration more relevant to individual citizens by increasing their participation, strengthening the protection of their rights and promoting the idea of an European identity", as reads the  $2^{nd}$  Report of the European Commission on Citizenship of the Union (European Commission 1997).

Looking at who really benefits from the bundle of rights guaranteed by being a member of the Union one finds that the promise of protecting human rights "actually delivering little of practical benefit to individuals as opposed to corporations and legal persons" (Búrca 1995, 52). Although there are cases in which the individual person and underprivileged groups benefited from invoking some of the rights enshrined in the treaties, strong

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Member States in which the share of non-national citizens of the Union is larger than 20% may provide for a qualifying period of residence for Union citizens to be eligible to participate (see Closa 1995, 499).

reservations should be invoked in regard of the rhetoric of rights. Also and particularly on the European level the rhetoric of rights tends to conceal differences in power and status and the costs of enforcing subjective rights tend to benefit mainly the powerful (Búrca 1995, 54). Consequently, the prospect of fostering a feeling of belonging and identity between the ordinary citizens of the Union by means of subjective rights is limited.

Making Union citizenship rights effective is largely dependent on secondary implementing legislation both on the European (directives) and national level. This requirement opens up the possibility of undermining the unitary character citizenship ordinarily implies and makes citizenship dependent on proper implementation. Implementation does not only consists of passing laws but also of administering them to the benefit of the citizens. An implementation deficit that has arisen in this respect (see European Commission 1997, par. 1.3, 1.4, 2., 4.2, 4.3) bears the risk of undermining confidence in the seriousness of the rhetoric of Union citizenship.

# 5. Perspectives of community building in the EC/EU

Community building in the EC/EU has until recently been a side effect and to a large degree unintended consequence of two complementary processes: market and polity integration. These processes are complementary in two different respects: a) market integration was brought about by political means, by the co-ordination of primarily economic policies, by developing a regulatory legal system and by charging certain institutions with the task of watching over the functioning of the market; b) to the extent that market integration progressed ever more fields and subjects came under consideration either in regard of probably distorting competition or of being instrumental to the achievement of economic ends.

The proliferation of policy co-ordination does not automatically lead to polity integration. It was the establishment of a new supranational legal order which opened the lock to polity integration. Each step of policy co-ordination among Member States was transformed on the spot into another move of pooling sovereignty. The nation states as members of the community only hesitantly accepted that logic. Once the supranational legal order was established, institutional dynamics and political demands from outside the Community system added momentum to this development.

In fact, the type of "community" that came into being by market and polity integration in the EC/EU is a community of market society and law, with its individual correlate: the "market citizen". The common denominator of these concepts is that they all are founded on the pursuit of private interests. Market society signifies what societies which are otherwise separated in nation states have in common: the market and the institutions that watch over its functioning. The intrinsic value of market society is the prospect of increased production. It was this

prospect which made the vision of completing the Common Market attractive even to those who did not believe in neo-liberal and market ideologies. From the perspective of the "market citizen" market society may be attractive either because one expects individual gains or at least to uphold individual economic and social security through the collective gains of the group or nation state of which one is a member.

The EC/EU in its present state of development primarily constitutes such a community of (economic) interest. Economic success was the trade mark of the Community since its inception and greatly contributed to its legitimisation. Individual gains in income and freedom of movement within the Community are at the core of the rational reasons why market citizens confer loyalty to the institutions that uphold the Community. Nevertheless, the basis of the Community's legitimacy may soon become the basis of its delegitimisation. When circumstances change, conflicts arise, and the Community cannot any longer fulfil the expectations of their members, and if it stops to serve the interests it is founded on, a crises is likely to occur which might question the very raison d'etre of the "community of interests".

## 5.1 Beyond instrumental community

Speaking in terms of social theory the problem of community building in the EC/EU consists in its being founded primarily on mechanisms of "systems integration" and is lacking appropriate means of "social integration" in the Habermasian sense (see Habermas 1985, 229 ff.). Systemic integration refers to a social order which is constituted and supported by exchange mechanisms like "money" and "power" which provide for the co-ordination of the actions of the individuals. No prior agreement on common values or the distribution of resources and no co-ordination of individual plans of action is required in order to guarantee the functioning of the exchange systems. The only agreement to be reached is about the legitimacy and validity of the exchange mechanisms one is going to use.

"Social integration" in contrast refers to norms, rules, values and orientations which must be shared in order to uphold the interaction and to constitute order and to the communicative processes of discussion, deliberation, and negotiation that are involved in their production. It is this dimension where one could look for means of community building that reach beyond the instrumental relationships established by a community of interest and which could help to stabilise and complement the Common Market.

Some commentators have pointed out that the EC/EU already to some extent relies also on shared values, common norms, and processes of communication. This is why it is sometimes referred to as a "negotiated order". But three reservations have to be made in this respect which are widely acknowledged:

First, negotiating the terms of co-operation in the EC/EP is an elitist undertaking. Access to those negotiations was until recently limited to a small group of political actors and governments who regularly meet behind closed doors and often unnoticed by the public. This holds true for the Council meetings and for the intergovernmental conferences where the fundamental decisions that effect the whole Union are taken.

Second, it was easier to agree on what the Member States did not want than on what they wanted to do together. The incorporation of Germany in a common European order for example was intended to prevent it from dominating Europe and following its "Sonderweg" which has proven so disastrous in the first half of the century. The integration of Germany provided the rational for many steps of integration ranging from the establishment of the ECSC to Maastricht's political Union. Another observation that underlines the tendency of "negative" integration reaching beyond the economic sphere is that the European project often was driven by external threats and challenges rather than internal interdependencies spilling over into the political realm. This is exemplified by the initial intention to define a European political space in between the two super powers in the times of the cold war and holds true also for the relaunch of the Common Market project in the face of increased competition inside the triad of Europe, USA, and Japan.

Third, proceeding with European integration was dependent not on developing common visions but on the processing of multiple and multifaceted projects that gave room for compromise. One of the main characteristics of the agreements reached at the European level is their heteronomy and heterogeneity. This proves that the convergence of meanings, understandings, perceptions, and interpretations lack behind the areas in which a co-ordinated policy is required and perceived as necessary. The endemic debate about what should come first, convergence of perceptions and interests or institution-building proves that point. Whenever integration succeeded it was not because of convergence of visions and agreement on where the EC/EU should go but at most convergence of interests, particularly in regard of how the nation state can best survive in a changing environment.

There is one point where the primarily instrumental order the EC/EU was designed to be has broken up: the establishment of a new legal system. The attempt to use law for purely instrumental purposes was bound to fail.

First, the new legal order could not be isolated from the legal orders of the Member States and the common legal traditions. So it was in the legal sphere that part of what can be perceived as the common political tradition in Europe was expressed at the European level for the first time. Since respect for human rights constitutes the core of the modern notion of a "state of law" it was unavoidable that the same standards would have to be applied at the Community level as well. Thus, morally sensitive and politically contested questions concerning the relative weight of certain rights and of ways how to protect them surfaced in the Community. Conflicts of value

cannot be resolved by judicial reasoning alone. They have to be dealt with in relation to a public discourse in which standards of judgement and justification can be processed and which does not exist at Community level.

Second, by acquiring direct effect the citizens of the Member States became subjects to Community law. It became obvious that a double standard is applied in how the citizens are involved in law-making at the national level and at the Union level. As long as law-making at Community level was primarily concerned with technical matters of regulating segments of the common market and as long as unanimity was applied such a double standard seemed acceptable. When the scope of Community legislation expanded in new sensitive areas (ranging from monetary policy to social policy to culture), market integration having a decisive impact on the lives of the citizens, and majority voting in the Council is considered to become the norm, the so-called "democratic deficit" appeared and the legitimacy of Community action was questioned time and again.

The "community of law" which has developed in the Community reaches well beyond the sphere of "systems integration" rising questions concerning the integrity of the community thereby established, the definition of the political community the community of law refers to, and the status and role of the individual citizen. The limitations of community building at the EC/EU level referred to above result from specific ambiguities and contradictions inherent in the given architecture of community and its guiding concepts. They will be stated here only briefly and will be explored further on.

- In the set-up of the EC/EU a particular asymmetry is to be found in the relationship between the Union and its citizens. It materialises in a conception of citizenship that is build upon an instrumental exchange relationship. It is the Union that grants rights to the citizens in exchange for their loyalty. It is not only that such a paternalistic understanding of citizenship conflicts with the modern notion of the autonomy of the person and with the self-perception of empowered citizens, it also makes the Union vulnerable. It risks the loss of the citizen's loyalty whenever the citizens may not be satisfied with the "goods" the Union is able to deliver. Therefore it seems appropriate to develop a coherent conception of Union citizenship that establishes a reciprocal relationship between the Union and the citizens, that gives substance to the political dimension of this relationship, and that has the potential of involving the citizens in transnational action and in controlling more effectively the political processes at Community level.
- An ambivalence exists in how the concept of market society is related to the existing national societies. It is not yet decided whether the EC/EU will be composed of a number of separated national societies whose boundaries will be open and blurred with a view to making it as easy as possible for individuals to transgress them or if a single European civil society is envisaged. The difference lies in the degree of harmonisation of the

concepts of nationality one is inclined to achieve and in the willingness of the Member States to treat Union citizens not only as "privileged strangers" but as equal citizens. This points to the incongruous relation between national representation and legitimisation of the European peoples and their being treated as subjected to a unified body of law.

The efforts to construct a community of citizens in the EC/EU address primarily the vertical dimension of citizenship, namely the relationship between Community and Member State institutions and the citizens. It neglects to a large degree the horizontal dimension of relating citizens with citizens. Such questions touch upon national identities and how they may be articulated at the European level giving rise to a new form of European identity, the contours of which are not yet discernible but deserve further consideration.

# 6. Foundations of political community

Until now the argument of the paper held that the EC/EU developed primarily into a community of states and of markets and only to a small degree it has become a "community of citizens". The commonalties among the individual members of the EU which were created by the EC/EU include a thin bond of mainly economic rights, a common legal order that is hardly recognised by the ordinary citizen and a set of EU-institutions about which the citizens have only little knowledge, which they often face with suspicion (see Anderson 1995; Reif 1993), and over which they have little control.

Looking beyond the changing attitudes and shaky moods regarding the various projects of European integration the more fundamental question arises whether the community of states and markets should and could be complemented by a political community of citizens which would help to outweigh the above mentioned imbalances and shortcomings. Tackling these questions is not only of academic interest but is related to the future development of the European Union and the prospect of legitimising and stabilising a new European political order and system of governance.

To the extent that the EU is engaged in processes of integration, self-regulation, law-making and redistributive policies it acts on the assumption that there exists a political subject on behalf of which the political institutions operate and who is the addressee of the policies they produce. Whom this political subject is composed of, how the boundaries of this subject are drawn and on what grounds any of its components should accept the decisions that are taken collectively were never clearly spelled out. It was just taken for granted that the national communities are the building blocks of the EU and that by granting precedence to the representatives of the nation states in EU affairs the decisions should legitimately be binding for all. The aim of the following chapters is to examine the notion of a political community of citizens, to clarify its meaning in the framework of the EU, and to discuss ways of how to advance it. The novelty and originality of the EU makes it impossible to directly address the question of what elements a political community on the European level might consist of. For an answer to this question we first have to look at the level of existing states and their experiences.

## 6.1 The nation state legacy of political community

For the purposes of this article political community shall denote a number of people who perceive themselves as belonging to the same group, who conceive the group as the legitimate unit of self-rule and the institutions which are therefore established as legitimate expressions of the collectivity. The individual members of that group perceive of themselves as equal and reciprocally participating in the group's reproduction. What has been stated here in abstract terms in reality corresponds to the ideal-typical form of the nation state. The prototype of the Western nation state is the composite - as the term signifies - of state and nation. It is the result of attempts to make the national and the political unit congruent by various - often forceful and brutal - means (see Gellner 1988, 1-7). This is not to say that state and nation are givens that only have to be brought together. The convergence of state and nation is a historical process, a contingency and not a necessity. More often the nation comes into being as a myth that is invented and believed in. The more it is believed in, the more it becomes a reality in the minds of the true believers and the more it affects their action. But this is only part of the story. In its formative period in the 19<sup>th</sup> century the processes of state and nation building were accompanied by the transformation of agrarian into industrial society establishing a mutually supporting relationship between the nation state and a capitalistically organised and primarily national market (see Habermas 1985, Vol. 2, 466).

What is important to note is the coincidence of the processes of state and nation building on the one hand, the development of industrial society and market economy on the other hand, which resulted in a peculiar self-enforcing dynamic in all those areas of the Western hemisphere where these processes converged. In order to simplify a complicated relationship I give a rude sketch of the kind of relationship that accounts for that dynamic:

Industrial society is characterised by the mobilisation and equalisation of the people (Gellner 1988, 24–38). Society was transformed from a hierarchical stratified system of people with an ascribed and stable status into a class based system which is characterised by occupational change. Upward and downward social mobility of individuals, of workers, and of capital owners was the result of the "precariousness of bourgeois fortunes" (Adam Smith). The modern individual was born which has to take responsibility for its own advancement and whose position in society is attributed primarily to personal achievement – according to the liberal ideology that expressed this new way the person was perceived. In order to sustain the occupational mobility of the workers an educational system was established that provided the

people with basic skills and a common high culture which made them appear more equal than they had been in the first instance.

The people of "nationalised" society were incorporated into the capitalist mode of production by the institution of wage and the labour contract. These institutions were complemented by the capitalist firm, money as the generalised medium of exchange, and a set of rules that – at the minimum – guided the exchange relations between producers, consumers, and workers. In order to guarantee the rules of the game and to secure the distribution of income and goods the modern state enters the picture.

The modern state is endowed with the right to the legitimate use of violence and – as Gellner has pointed out – education in order to guarantee the functioning of the system. A rationally organised bureaucracy, positive law, and the courts are the means developed to define the rules that regulate the economy, that circumscribe the scope of freedom of action of the individual, and that resolve conflicts between private actors. The police and military organs are at its disposal to uphold public order within its territory and vís a vís the outside world, which is also composed of states. The modern state also took over the responsibility to provide and maintain the infrastructure that is required for the persistence and promotion of industrial society, market economy, and itself as a political authority. In order to secure its self-reproduction the modern state developed a symbiotic relationship with the market economy on the one hand, and with the people over whom it exercises authority on the other. The state collects taxes which are partly consumed by the state organs, which are partly used to finance the infrastructure, and which are partly used for the production of goods and services that are redistributed among the population.

The necessity to define the boundaries of the population that belongs to the state is the point where the concept of the nation comes in. The modern state is in close contact with its population and in a symbiotic relationship with it as well. The state taxes the individual in its role as employee or employer, it distributes goods and services, and it aspires the consent of its subjects for the smooth functioning of the whole system and particularly for the legitimisation of its authority. Nationhood became prominent not only because it was a means to delineate the 'people' but also because the concept of a nation was a successful means of drawing the boundaries of the political community the state relies on and it became a forceful means of legitimising the centralised, constitutionalised, and rationally organised modern polity. The state, on the other hand, broke up the strong ties that bounded the individual to its local community, the neighbourhood or the village entrenching it in a newly created high culture. And this was done in the name of "nationalism".

Generally speaking, nationalist ideology suffers from pervasive false consciousness. Its myths invert reality: it claims to defend folk culture while in fact it is forging a high culture; it claims to protect an old folk society while in fact helping to build up an anonymous mass society. (Pre-

# nationalist Germany was made up of a multiplicity of genuine communities, many of them rural. Post-nationalist united Germany was mainly industrial and a mass society) (Gellner 1988, 124).

Only if one keeps in mind the fundamental functions of nationalism and nationhood one can come to terms with the manifold expressions of nationalism and the variety of forms it takes. Nationalism is understood as the ideology that is employed to legitimise the claim to and to mobilise people to support either the creation of a new state, to redraw the territorial boundaries of existing states or to redraw the boundaries of the political community the state relies on. The ultimate aim is to secure political self-determination for the group called "nation". If this is not possible, some less demanding solutions may also be considered like territorial autonomy or some privileged position as a group within a state.

Nationalism uses cultural signifiers to make plausible and intelligible the "imagined community" (Anderson 1983) the national activists claim to represent. The cultural signifiers used cover a wide range of collective characteristics like language, customs, history, the heritage of art, religion, descent or even race. These cultural signifiers seem to be self-evident as cultural expressions but are rather vague if they are employed to define the boundaries of a group.<sup>7</sup> Nationalism only entered the historical stage when cultural and ethnic markers became politicised. "... it is the articulation of the 'national' to political discourses and practices, the elevation of the nation to the status of a *political subject* that characterises nationalism" (Jenkins/Sofos 1996, 11–12). But it would be false to think of nations as pre-existing social entities. "It is nationalism which engenders nations, and not the other way round" (Gellner 1988, 55).

A "nation" can be defined as a cultural/ethnic collectivity which identifies itself with a territory. There are many ethnic groups which share a collective name, a common myth of descent, a shared history, and a distinctive culture, but only when such a collectivity claims a territory as its (ancestral or imagined) homeland it becomes a "nation" (Oommen 1997, 20). This definition avoids the mistake to call "nations" only those collectivities which are either "state-led" or "state-seeking" (Tilly 1994). There are quite a number of nations which do not aspire for sovereign statehood like Wales, Scotland, Catalonia, and most of the constituent nations of Indonesia, India, the Philippines, and many nations in Afrika which are separated by state borders inherited from colonial times. In contrast, "state-led" nationalism refers to a situation in which states had existed before nationalism became a dominant political movement and where the nation was formed around and by the institutions of the state. "State-led" nationalism resulted in the creation of "state nations", which reflects primarily the experience in Western Europe (e.g. France and England), whereas "state-seeking" nationalism resulted in the creation of "nation states", which is the dominant experience in Central and Eastern Europe (Armstrong

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The arbitrariness of such interpretations is best exemplified by the Nazi definition of who should be regarded as a Jew.

1982)."State seeking" nationalism occurred primarily within multi-national empires (like the Prussian, Austrian, and the Russian empire), where national identities were forged prior to and as the basis of a political programme to obtain an independent state (Germany, Italy, Hungary, Poland, etc.).

Whatever the historical sequence of state and nation building the important point is that the creation of a political community where state and nation, political and cultural boundaries coincide became a forceful ideal in the second half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century and ever since. The attractiveness of this ideal dates back to the French Revolution, which on the one hand unequivocally equated nation, state, territory, and language, and on the other hand founded the new regime on the notion of popular sovereignty. The idealised model of England added the values of individualism and economic prosperity what made nationalism even more appealing to the emerging class of the "petit bourgeoisie" in various countries.

This peculiar combination contributed to the success of the "liberal" model of nationalism in the first half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, which gave the impression that nationalism could be equated not only with national self-determination but also with emancipation and progress (Woolf 1996, 8–15). That this was not a necessary coincidence became evident after the defeat of the revolutions of 1848, and it was confirmed by the kind of antagonistic nationalism that developed in Europe after 1880 and finally led to World War I. But even the new states that were created after World War I did not stop the spiral of ethnic hatred. "Nationalism which, before the war, had often extended its social base by its incorporation of social demands (in Poland, Finland, Georgia, the Jewish Bund) became authoritarian and virulently patriotic, easily associated with fascism as, a century before, it had been associated with liberalism" (Woolf 1996, 25).

Since World War I the nation state has become the dominant model of state and nationhood in the Western world. After the consolidation of its external boundaries the nation state was consolidated internally by two developments: the establishment of democratic regimes and the welfare state. Although the connection between the nation state<sup>8</sup> and democracy as an ideal was established already by the American and French Revolution, it was not until after the Second World War that democratic nation states became the norm in Western Europe.<sup>9</sup> In Eastern Europe the nation states either persisted after World War II adopting a communist type of regime or were incorporated into the Soviet Union, which represented a peculiar form of a multi-national state (Brubaker 1996, 23–54). The welfare state was a product of social movements and worker emancipation stemming back into the second half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century but it was not widely institutionalised before 1945.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For reasons of simplicity I do not distinguish between "nation states" and "state nations" here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Liah Greenfeld (1992) argues that the interconnectedness of nationality and democracy first became visible in 16<sup>th</sup> century England. But England did not become a model for the nationalist movements on the continent because of the different political circumstances and constellations of that time.

Whether it was the confrontation of the two power blocks the European countries found themselves locked in or the experience of exploding chauvinism that led to World War II, the fact is that conflicts between nation states on the grounds of ethnic or national claims were largely absent from the Western European scene for decades. The political community of the nation state became amalgamated with the democratic regimes and the welfare systems that were established in the respective countries to such an extent that they cannot easily be distinguished. Political equality and social security became features of the nation states of Western Europe and the people began to unequivocally identify the nation state with the bundle of institutions, rights, and services that were (re-)produced and guaranteed within its borders.

To sum up the argument, I give a short account of the ingredients that make the nation state appear as the prototype of political community.

First, the existence of the state either as a longed-for polity or as the promoter of nationalism is essential. What brought "state" and "nation" together was their common reference to a territory. Since the peace of Westphalia (1648) control over a territory became the primary concern within the emerging system of sovereign states.

Most notably, the states themselves became increasingly significant foci of identity for rulers and subjects alike. Social structures and individual rights became more strongly linked to the state in which they were situated, and the attention of rulers was directed away from their status in relation to quasi-feudal or imperial hierarchies and toward the development of territorial resources and the protection of state boundaries (Murphy 1996, 92).

In the second half of the 18<sup>th</sup> century "territory was the *leitmotif* of European political affairs" (Murphy 1996, 94). Elaborate arguments were developed to justify claims to one another's territorial possessions, and great efforts were taken to establish the precise territorial rights of rulers. The principle of territory became also more important within the states. The absolutist monarchs established strong centralised bureaucracies and standing armies and they encouraged the use of standardised languages thereby reducing differences within their territories and widening the differences between peoples living in separate states. The focus on territory and its demarcation thus paved the way for nationalism to take hold.

Second, the idea of the nation as an "imagined community of people" became important because it served diverse interests. It became a forceful ideology to justify either defensive or offensive territorial claims of states during the 19<sup>th</sup> and 20<sup>th</sup> century, it provided the representatives of the ruling elite with an ideology that justified centralised government, and it was used to justify claims of particular groups to participate in the exercise of power.

After the defeat of Napoleon, who had tried to establish a vast empire in Europe, the Congress of Vienna redrew the political map with a view to establishing a balance of power between

sovereign territorial states in Europe that primarily aimed at checking France's power and to reaffirm the historically ordained territorial order. The only major conflicts that emerged in the first half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century were signs of the emergence of national concerns: the independence of Greece in 1820 and the rejection of Dutch domination by Belgium in 1830 (see Murphy 1996, 96–97). The nationalistic movements gained momentum in the second half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century leading to the "unification" of Italy and Germany and reached its heights after World War I, when Woodrow Wilson's doctrine of "national self-determination" gave birth to a number of new nation states. But as further developments showed, the principle of "national self-determination" was not able to produce a stable system of territorially defined nation states.

Internally, nationalism to a growing extent provided a new source of political legitimacy. Particularly the French Revolution challenged the traditional foundations of political authority. Hereditary and God-given authority was replaced by doctrines of popular sovereignty, meaning that the exercise of public power had to be founded at least theoretically on the consent of the "people" (see Jenkins/Sofos 1996, 13–14). Membership in a people became associated and even identical with membership in a national community. Nationalism was used on the one hand by nationalist movements to promote a republican type of government as exemplified by the revolutionary activities of 1830 and 1848, and on the other hand it provided even autocratic political systems with a certain degree of legitimacy as long as it could convincingly present itself as acting on behalf of the will and in the interest of the "nation".

Third, the nation state could not exclusively rely on nationalism to legitimate its authority and to integrate society. The socio-economic transformation of society gave rise to deep cleavages within each nation. The class dimension that became politically articulated in the second half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century cut across national society competing for the loyalty of the people. To simplify crudely one can say that in order to accommodate class conflict a combination of liberal democracy and welfare institutions provided for the incorporation of capital owners and workers alike into the same political community of the nation state (see Hirsch 1995, 36–44).

The political community of present day nation states in Western Europe is the product of several overlapping but distinct developments. The fusion of "states" and "nations" was the first step in the establishment of territorially defined nation states. The development of homogenised peoples and of a national identity was founded on the educational system but also on the "invention of traditions" which prospered in the second half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century (see Hobsbawm/Ranger 1996). The two world wars of the 20<sup>th</sup> century delegitimised any claims on foreign territory and locked the states into their borders. With a few exceptions and the interlude of World War II the borders in Europe became fixed and were taken as given. Making borders a political taboo the state territory became the unquestioned foundation of collective identification for the citizens who were born into them. But it was not only the territorial state that became the object of identification but also the set of institutions and organisations

ranging from political parties, public or private enterprises, to arts and sports that operated within it and after 1945 represented the political, economic, and cultural achievements of those states with which one could identify.

The political community of present day nation states cannot be deduced from nationalism and the conflicts that led to their establishment. The historical coincidence of the above-mentioned processes should not be taken as a proof of causal necessity. This is not to say that national identity is not important any more or that it does not pose problems for European integration. The point is that collective identity is permanently in flux, that it permanently is renegotiated and that the context in which the question of collective identity arises is extraordinarily important in order to determine how it is constructed and how a national political community could be articulated with a would-be European political community.

## 6.2 The conditions of community building in the EC/EU

If we want to evaluate the prospects of developing a political community of citizens in the EU, we have to ask to what extent the conditions are fulfilled that made the appearance of the nation state as the prototype of modern political community possible. Being dear about the preconditions and functional requirements of community building, it should be possible to assess the prospects for the development and the likely shape of a political community in Europe. Anthony Smith lists four criteria which he considers necessary for "nations" to emerge on the political scene:

- 1. they require a unified legal code of common rights and duties, with citizenship rights where the nation is independent
- 2. they are based on a unified economy with a single division of labour, and mobility of goods and persons throughout the national territory
- 3. they need a fairly compact territory, preferably with 'natural' defensible frontiers, in a world of similar compact nations
- 4. they require a single 'political culture' and public, mass education and media system, to socialise future generations to be 'citizens' of the new nation (Smith 1991, 69).

ad 1) The EU has made important steps to set up a common legal framework which is supranational in character but it is far from being unified. The EU is looking to preserve the peculiar character of national jurisdictions by using directives rather than decisions as legal instruments, by restraining from harmonisation where possible and by promoting the mutual recognition of regulations and standards. Directives are legal instruments that specify common goals and aims but leave broad room for the administrations to adapt the national laws with a

view to achieving the common goals. Mutual recognition of e.g. technical specifications or educational qualifications broadens the scope of their validity without unifying the respective legal provisions. Nevertheless, the legal systems of the Member States have entered into a dynamic development in which growing (economic) exchange processes, conflict resolution by the ECJ and an expanding scope of legal rules reinforce one another. The above mentioned "constitutionalisation" of EU law made the EU responsive to the demands of transnational society which might lead to the emergence of a "transnational rule-of-law polity" (see Sweet/Brunell 1998).

The development of common political and social rights and duties lags somewhat behind in so far as only some specific rights are enumerated in the Treaty. On the other hand the ECJ made extensive reference to the common traditions of the Member States in regard of human rights protection. Thus one can argue that the protection of human rights is widely guaranteed in the legal space covered by the EU (see Häberle 1997, 82–84). Even some sort of "Union citizenship" has been introduced the limitations of which have already been addressed.

The important point is that the EU has created a supranational legal order which has become the most important instrument of integration. It is the peculiar nature of law – namely to take on the form of "binding orders" (laws in the ordinary sense) and to create "rights and obligations" – which makes it particularly fit for such a task: on the one hand, it has the capacity to create new agencies (organisations etc.) and to direct social interaction, and on the other hand, it enables and sets limits for individual action. While the first feature of law is functional in regard of coordinating social interaction, the second feature empowers actors in different ways. Law can create and define the status or position of an actor in a formally designed structure (of an organisation or a market, for instance), it delineates the scope of free and unrestricted action, and it regulates the forms of interaction between the actors. In the case of European integration law has primarily been used to integrate the market and to equalise the legal status of the European "market citizens".

It is also the legal sphere in which a "political community of citizens" will have to be founded. In contrast to the nation state the development of a European community of citizens cannot rely on equalising methods but on methods that alow for "equality in difference". This means, that the community will have to be built upon – and will also have to respect – the multiplicity of legal traditions which exist in the nation states and that a large degree of variation even within the legal sphere will have to be accepted. On the individual level, a community of citizens will not consist of citizens who are alike in all respects. The equality in regard of political rights will have to be at the centre of community and will have to be balanced by equality in the right to be different – a principle which will have to be applied particularly in the cultural sphere.

Ad 2) The common market programme aimed at creating a unified economy and at guaranteeing the freedom of movement of all factors of production. Beyond the problem of

implementation of the rules that should establish the common market this is the point where the preconditions of community building will soon be fulfilled to a large extent. Whereas the mobility of capital, goods, and, to a lesser extent, services is realised, the mobility of persons poses particular problems. It is impeded not only by legal obstacles or economic incentives but by the lack of a tradition of mobility and by cultural differences (ranging from language to food and to life-style) between different countries. In addition, growing resistance of national societies against migrants impedes mobility as well – particularly when those migrants are perceived as competing unfairly in the labour market. This severely limits the capacity for the market being converted into a market society.

The important point here is that in the EU – in contrast to the development at state level – the development of a community of citizens is dependent on the establishment of a European society which will provide the opportunities to develop transnational communal ties between people from various national backgrounds. Therefore, it seems essential to promote and support an infrastructure that enables individuals to make use of their right of free movement and residence throughout the Union. In fact, reality lacks behind market and polity integration that paved the way for establishing a unified economy.

Ad 3) The third condition is hardly fulfilled in the EU. It has a fairly compact territory, only Greece being separated from the rest. Furthermore, the territorial boundaries of the EU are not fixed since it is open for expansion. The frontiers are not in any way "natural" defensible nor is the EU confronted with similar political entities as itself in its neighbourhood. The EU is mainly a "civilian power" which cannot dispose of any significant and independent military capacity of its own. It is open whether it ever will – the possibility has been opened up by the provisions on a common defense in the Maastricht Treaty. As long as this is not the case, the EU lacks a forceful instrument to promote any strong sense of European patriotism. Some have therefore concluded that a European identity will not develop ever soon (see Zellentin 1993). An alternative reading would rather state that the lack of a "defense identity" will prohibit that a European identity will be founded on an exclusivist and rationalistic ideology, which made nationalism such a threat to peace in the international state system.

Ad 4) In the EU, there is no single "political culture" and public, no single mass education and media system, but there are several of them which are accessible for EU nationals. Although they do not form a unity, they are quite similar to one another, particularly in regard of basic principles and standards.

The political systems of the Member States are based on the same principles which have been incorporated in the Treaty of Amsterdam. They consist of the principles of liberty, democracy, respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms, and the rule of law (new Art. 6 of TEU); and they are organised and operate in a fairly similar fashion (see Gabriel 1992). The

educational and media systems are different but comparable in their mission, structure, and overall disposition.

What is striking in this comparison is that the EU fulfils criteria 1 and 2 to a considerable extent and is striving to achieve them more fully.

Criteria 3 refers primarily to the external dimension of "nation building" which is associated with warfare and militant patriotism. The creation of an external enemy is said to have considerably influenced the formation of "national identities" (see Giddens 1985). It can be taken for granted that the EU in the foreseeable future will remain primarily a "civilian power", given its low profile in regard of common defence and military structures. Though one has to add that the Maastricht Treaty established the perspective of "a common defence policy [...] which might lead to a common defence, should the European Council so decide" (new Art. 17 TEU). Starting from this premise, it seems unlikely that the EU will soon be able to rely on military sources and military mobilisation for fostering in the people some sort of an "identity" that would underpin sentiments of belonging to Europe and being a "European" in contrast to some non-European enemy.

The fourth criterion points to the very specificity of the EU, namely its being composed of quite similar units which nevertheless display a very strong sense of cultural individuality. The overarching political structure of the EU which has resulted from the process of polity integration sketched above is confronted with segmented but open and interconnected national publics, which are separated not primarily by institutional diversity but by language and cultural difference. Concerning cultural difference, the EU does not fulfil the precondition for the "nation building" exercise to take hold. On the contrary, it is cultural diversity in the form of "national identity" which the EU is obliged to respect. The Amsterdam Treaty made this point explicit by introducing a new Art. 6, which reads: "The Union shall respect the national identities of its Member States" (TEU). The last point makes clear that any attempt to create a political community in Europe will have to come to terms with the fact of national cultural diversity.

The discussion of the conditions that moulded the modern political community into the form of the nation state was not intended either to suggest that the European Union should or cannot undergo a similar development. Instead, it was intended to point to the similarities and differences in the initial situations of community building which should inform any attempt to reflect on the emergence of a political community in Europe.

# 7. Building blocks for a political community of European citizens

The strength of the political community of the nation state lies in its capacity to serve as the roof for a community of culture which consists of a common language, a common history, symbols and meanings that guarantee not only the free flow of communication and association among its people but also a sense of belonging; and for a community of citizens which consists of nationals who enjoy privileged access to a bundle of civil, political, and social rights. The political community is supported by the institutions of democracy and the welfare state, which sustain the claim that the citizens are perceived as equals: democracy sustains the claim of political equality despite the fact of unequal power of individuals and various groups in society, and the welfare state sustains the claim of a minimum standard of economic equality in the face of a very unequal distribution of wealth in a market society. It is the combination of these cultural, political, and social factors that produce the often referred to solidarity and trust that is said to characterise the political community of the nation state.

A community of citizens will only emerge in the framework of the EU when it succeeds in addressing the above mentioned cultural, political, and social concerns connected with community building. The argument I will develop is that the problems the EU faces in regard of community building are the same as they are at nation state level but the solutions have to be different. The difference is that for a European community of citizens to be realised the EU cannot rely exclusively on a "politics of identity" but has to complement it by a "politics of difference". Or to put it another way: for the aim of making European nationals into members of a group who participate on equal terms in its political self-determination and societal reproduction difference contributes to equity among the partners. This will require a reconfiguration and redefinition of the elements at the level of the EU which contribute to the integration and coherence of the political communities the nation state represents.

# 7.1 The cultural dimension

Nation states became largely integrated and successfully stabilised by means of cultural homogenisation. This is a path the EU cannot and need not go. There are several reasons for this: First, the development of a common (high) culture was a functional requirement for industrial society to prosper particularly in regard of spreading basic – and nowadays also highly specialised – skills. In the EU, the Member States already provide a broad range of educational opportunities so that there is no need for a European wide and unified educational system to be established. Second, the cultural plurality and variety of Europe is seen as one of its main advantages that should be preserved, and third, the members of the nation states in general are solidly culturally and emotionally embedded in their nation states.

Public opinion polls conducted from 1981 on show widespread support for European integration in general, but a decline in support in the 90ies. In 1997 support levels were back to the levels of the beginning of the 80ies.

Until 1991 support for the Union had risen steadily – except for a small blip in 1988 – and by then stood at 72%. Then support began to drop. It began in Germany following the reunification of the East and the West. Following the difficult ratification process of the Maastricht Treaty, the downward trend spread to other countries. The expansion in 1995 added more weight to the decline as the public in the three new countries turned out to be relatively sceptical of the European Union. By the time the effects on public opinion of the BSE crisis were measurable in the spring of 1997 support had dropped to a low of 46%. The latest results of 49% show an increase in public support for the European Union for the first time in many years.

Country by country analyses show that in the Autumn of 1997 support levels have increased in 12 of the 15 Member States, the most notable rise being in Italy (+7). In Luxembourg, on the other hand, support levels have dropped by 6 percentage points to 71%. (...) As a result of this drop, Luxembourg has fallen from second to third position in the ranking of support levels. The Netherlands (76%) now come second while levels of support continue to be highest in Ireland (83%).

Support for EU membership is lowest in Sweden and Austria (both 31%) (see European Commission 1998, 19).

The variations suggest that the orientations are dependent on the general public mood, the kind of political projects that are on the agenda, and on the degree these projects have become politicised. Public opinion should therefore not be taken as the independent variable in determining what might be a political option in the future but as one factor which is susceptible to change and in close interaction with the general course of politics. This is also exemplified by the decline of support for enlargement of the EU and extended military co-operation which was strong throughout the 80ies but diminished on the eve of the opening of negotiations leading to Eastern enlargement. The last Eurobarometer survey conducted in October/November 1997 showed that on average only 24% of the population agreed that welcoming new member countries should be a priority of the EU whereas 61% said it should not (see Eurobarometer 48 1998, 43).

On the other hand, there is a growing sense of trust among members of the EU. Yet, there is no general trend of a growing sense of European identity while temporary fluctuations prevail (see Niedermayer/Sinnott 1995). This is not to say that there is no room for change and for a new layer of European identity to be added to the existing national identities. Given the fact that a certain number of people already perceive of themselves as being European although this identification is less strong than identification with the nation state and taking into account the volatility of public opinion there is ample space for speculating about how the basis for a political community in the EU could be broadened.

The alternative is not to refrain from any interference in cultural matters as was the policy of the EU until the mid-80ies. In order to stabilise a multi-national European political community two conditions have to be fulfilled: First, the citizens have to be aware of what they have in common across national borders, and secondly, they have to develop a sense of and an understanding for the cultural variety that exists in Europe and of how to protect it.

The first condition falls under the "politics of identity" and is primarily an educational task. It aims at adding a "European dimension" to the standard syllabi of schools, universities, and other training programmes. The would-be European citizens should have some knowledge about the history and life of one another, they should be informed about the policies of the EU and the working of its institutions, and they should be able to communicate in different languages. This is not only a precondition for political community but also for the less ambitious aims of economic integration as has been demonstrated by the difficulties to enhance the mobility of people in the common market.

The second condition falls under the "politics of difference" and aims not only at the protection of the national cultures as represented by the nation states but of cultural diversity throughout the Community. The nation states and the EU are faced with several potentially destabilising developments. On the one hand, in realising the common market the national societies become part of a European market society in which they themselves form cultural minorities. Although the nation states seem strong enough to preserve their national cultures within their borders, it is less likely that they will be able to do so when economic integration proceeds and mobility of people increases. The influx of foreigners and higher levels of immigration may also have a disruptive potential. Furthermore, there are quite a number of national minorities in the Member States and in the potential new Member States that have applied to join the EU. Tensions between members of majority and minority cultures are already on the rise. This may lead to an increase in xenophobia, aggressive behaviour and the rise of nationalism – even in the existing member countries. On the other hand, the incoming people may be deprived of their capacities to sustain communal ties among the members of the same ethnic or national group and to preserve their cultural identities living in a foreign country.

In becoming a protector of cultural diversity the EU could acquire a new strand of legitimacy. The protection of primarily national and ethnic cultural diversity would have two sides: one side would be directed at taming nationalism and the other side at promoting cultural pluralism. This could be achieved by explicitly acknowledging cultural rights of communities at the EU level and perhaps by developing certain policies that help to sustain the respective cultural identity. "Ethnic citizens can be remarkably loyal to a state that protects and fosters private communal

life, if that is seen to be equitably done" (Walzer 1995, 153). To delegate these competencies to the EU may be hard to achieve because the historical experience of the nation states runs counter to this proposal.

The national state as such has a bleak history with respect to cultural rights of communities other than the dominating nation, but hopefully it is now so firmly settled that it can approach the issue of cultural rights in a liberal fashion. If it does so constructively it may find that the introduction of such rights at the European level will legitimize the project of European Union in the eyes of the citizens, making it possible for the national state to become less sovereign and for the national economy to become less self-sufficient, as History requires (Holm 1994, 34).

The recognition of cultural rights at the European level would recognise the transformation of territorially confined nation states into an open space without frontiers. It would be one building block of a plural European political community that complements the European-wide market society that has resulted from the previous steps of market and polity integration.

It is hardly conceivable to found the imagery of a political community on the antagonistic history of warfare among the European nations. Therefore, it might prove better to reveal the collective identities of the many subnational and transnational minorities linking them to a shared European future in which even the nation states will find themselves in a minority position as regards culture. Such a pluralistic conception of a European political community would better fit the political projects of enlargement and economic and monetary union than a conception of Europe which is meant to stay neutral in terms of culture. No state can stay neutral in regard of culture as the experience of the nation states demonstrates. The best any political community in regard of culture can achieve is impartiality. Ignoring this lesson could prove costly and even damaging in the face of the desire of the Member States "to deepen the solidarity between their peoples while respecting their history, their culture and their traditions" (Preamble of the Amsterdam Treaty).

## 7.1 The political dimension

The EU has to develop functional equivalents in two respects should it acquire legitimacy as a political community in the eyes of the citizens and thus contributeing to the development of loyalty and a sense of belonging in the long run: it has to reconstruct democratic politics at the EU level and it has to increase its political performance.

### 7.1.1 Reinventing democracy

Democracy could play an important role in contributing to the integration of a political community at the EU level. The integration of a plural polity like the European Union cannot

rely on "thick" cultural bonds as has been argued above. Instead, it has to give precedence to particularly designed democratic structures and procedures for holding the polity together. These structures have to be adapted to the reality of a multi-national and multi-cultural polity. Several reasons point to the particular fitness of democracy for such a task.

First, the EU consists of Member States which are themselves democracies. Democracy is part of the common political culture in Europe and may therefore also help to legitimise the European Union when it conforms to democratic standards. This presupposes that the EU engages in an effort to present itself as a polity that takes democracy seriously. Until now, the EU avoids to speak of itself as a community that is committed to democratic principles and which is ready to apply them to its own operation.

Second, the liberal understanding of democracy holds that all those subjected to government should also have a right to participate in its determination and control. Or to put it the other way round, the basic characteristic of democracy is "the responsiveness of the government to the preferences of its citizens, considered as political equals" (Dahl 1971, 1). The main advantage of such an understanding of democracy is that it relates individuals as citizens, not as collectivities to the institutions of government. In this respect it builds upon a fundamental aspect of the common market, which is individual mobility. If a certain number of nationals would as an effect of mobility reside in another Member States they, should have the possibility to participate on equal terms in the political process with their fellow citizens.

Third, the mechanisms of democracy are particularly fit to deal with conflict. Democracy is based on competitive elections of representatives who are engaged in an interplay of public contestation, government, opposition, and deliberation (see Gutmann/Thompson 1996). Consociational forms of democracy have been developed to bridge deep religious, ethnic or cultural cleavages in society. Those democracies are characterised by forms of consensus government meaning that all relevant subgroups are represented in government and unanimity and bargaining is preferred to majority decisions in all those cases in which vital interests of the respective collectivities are at stake (see Lijphart 1984). These mechanisms were developed in order to manage group conflicts and to adapt the principle of political equality to the existential need to preserve one's collective identity.

Democratising the EU cannot be reduced to enlarging the role of the European Parliament but comprises a hole range of adjustments that have to be built upon the particular set-up of the European Union. I will sketch only some of the questions that have to be answered if the transformation of the European polity into a political community of citizens shall succeed.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Answering the posed questions would require a lengthy elaboration which is outside the scope of the present paper.

Let's first discuss some basic features which a democratic design will have to take into account.

Any attempt to democratise the EU has to face cultural variety and the multiplicity of identities of its population. This implies that only a multi-national and multi-cultural design of the European polity is conceivable. The possibility of establishing and maintaining a multi-national and multi-cultural democratic polity is premised at least on three conditions (see Dahl 1971, 115–121) which the EU also will have to meet: 1. No ethnic, religious, or regional subculture should generally be blocked from participating in government. 2. A set of understandings and engagements should provide a high degree of security to the various sub-cultures. 3. People of the countries must belief that democracy is effective in responding to demands for coping with the major problems of the country.

In the EU requirement 1 is largely fulfilled by the participation of delegates of the nation states in the Council and in the Commission. A second element is the Committee of the Regions where representatives of various kinds of local, municipal, and regional government or administrations meet. The composition reflects only to a very limited degree ethnic or regional subcultures in Europe. The heterogeneity of its members and the lack of decisive influence at EU level renders them relatively unimportant so that it cannot contribute to fulfilling requirement 1. The main object, requirement 1 refers to, are the existing nation states which may be perceived as permanent cultural minorities seen from a European perspective. In institutional terms this would imply that a democratic European polity would have to adopt a federal framework. The European polity would therefore have to consist of two political bodies: the body politic of all European citizens and the body politic of all European states. Both have to be politically represented at the EU level in a two-chamber-like system. Such a model is compatible with the central democratic principle of autonomy in contrast to heteronomy (see Midgaard 1997, 199–200). This is important because democratic self-determination is justified by the promotion of autonomy, both for individuals as citizens and for the collectivity (see Held 1995, 146).

Requirement 2 is fulfilled in the EU in regard of the national cultures but not for other subnational groups, particularly national minorities. Therefore enhancements of cultural rights at EU level were proposed above. Requirement 3 will be addressed in the chapter on "Enhancing problem-solving capacities" below.

While the reconstruction of the institutional structure and decision-making mechanisms may contribute quite a lot to the democratisation of the EU, they are not the most important issues in developing a democratic political community.<sup>11</sup> A political community comes alive through its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> For a discussion of the many proposals to alter the design of the institutions and to change the governing structures in order to make the EU more democratic see Falkner/Nentwich 1995; Weidenfeld 1995 und 1991.

activities and political communication. A democratic community invokes itself in the processes of public debate and public deliberation. A public debate about which policies should be pursued in the European Union, how the performance of the political representatives and institutions is evaluated and for what problems a common solution should be sought at the European level would involve the minds of the people, would make the common tasks and challenges present and would strengthen the allegiance of the people to the political community of the EU.

Such a development is dependent on improvements in three interrelated dimensions: accountability, transparency, and visibility. Accountability refers to the possibility to question and sanction the behaviour of the rulers and political representatives by the citizens. Potential candidates to fulfil those roles in the realm of the EU are the Members of the Commission, the Council, and the EP. The Members of the EP are directly elected and could therefore in principle be held accountable at the next election. The Members of the Council can only be held accountable indirectly and only in some instances by their respective national parliaments. The Members of the Commission are completely independent and cannot be sanctioned for what they do except for severe misbehaviour but not on political grounds. Institutionalising impeachment procedures for the EP and granting the EP the right to assent to each individual nomination of a Commissioner would establish at least an indirect link between the central authorities and the citizens. But even if it would be able to evaluate and influence their decisions via public scrutiny and discussion.

Here the second condition of transparency comes in. Only when it is known what decisions were taken, on what grounds and who took which position it would be possible to criticise or applaud it. The Commission presents its working programme, publishes green and white papers and has made progress in making documents available to the public. The EP is also fairly open in its information policy but the Council and the individual national Ministries whose delegates meet in Brussels are quite intransparent in their workings. Further improvements are required which would make the policy making process that leads to decisions at the European level more accessible for the public.

Only when the institutions and the processes are more transparent they could become more visible. The degree of visibility of Union politics is dependent on "making visible" and on "being noticed". Making EU policies more visible is a duty assigned to the institutions and the political actors involved whereas noticing what is going on is a duty assigned to the media and the citizens who have to receive and recognise the necessary information. Only if people (including parties, interest groups, social movements) are able and encouraged to engage in discussing EU policies, democracy would come alive in the European Union and would stimulate the sense of loyalty and belonging that characterises a political community.

#### 7.2.2 Integrating the citizenry

An integrated citizenry is the very foundation of a democratic political community. An integrated citizenry consists of persons who enjoy the same rights and opportunities for participation in the community and who are treated as equals. Only when they are treated as equals they will recognise and respect each other as equal.

The very first condition is to implement the already given rights of Union citizenship. The freedom of movement for persons figures prominently among them. Only when people from Member countries can freely settle where they want throughout the territory of the Union, when they are free to enter the educational system of their choice, to take up a job and to reside as long as they want they will become aware of the enhanced opportunities Union citizenship delivers.

The same holds true for the political dimension. The political rights granted by Union citizenship fall short of the requirement of equality a political community presupposes. While the right to vote in and stand for local and European elections is granted national elections are exempted. Extending the latter right to all members of the Member States after a certain period of residence in the host-country would make the EU citizens more equal in political terms. Furthermore, the exercise of political freedom is based on additional rights like the freedom of association or the freedom of speech, which is not granted to all Member State residents in some EU-countries. Either the harmonisation of these rights or adding them to the rights of Union citizenship would improve the situation considerably.

The development of a unified legal status of EU citizens will have to encompass primarily the economic and political sphere as indicated. Their implementation would create nearly no costs for the Member States. This is not the case if social rights would be included in the common legal status guaranteed to all EU-citizens. The effectiveness of social rights to a large degree depends on the capability of the state institutions to provide social services or to pay for them. The level of social protection varies from one country to another in accordance with economic performance and wealth – at least in Europe (see Scharpf 1997c, Fig. 2). Granting equal social rights to all European citizens would either be useless since neither the EU nor the poorer countries in Europe could afford their implementation or it would be unacceptable for the poorer countries because the relative competitive position of their economy would deteriorate. The only possible solution in this situation would be the establishment of common standards at a low level given that the richer countries would compensate the poorer ones for the increase of competition they would have to face (see Scharpf 1996, 120–121).

Besides the problems of agreeing on and implementing individual social rights at European level, a cautious approach to social rights protection at the European level would help to integrate the citizenry in Europe. This conviction was the basis for an initiative of the European

Commission to promote a Europe-wide discussion about the introduction of fundamental political and social rights in the EU. In the final report it was stated that the incorporation of a "Bill of Rights" into the founding treaties of the European Union would mobilise the civil societies of the Member countries and it would help the Europeans to recognise their being part of a community of citizens of Europe (see European Commission 1996, 7). However, granting social rights at European level does not preclude the question how the responsibilities and competencies concerning the provision of social security may be devided between the Member States and the European level. This question has to be decided according to the principle of subsidiarity taking account of the level of economic performance of the respective countries and aiming at a European-wide minimal level of social security.

#### 7.2.3 Enhancing problem-solving capabilities and political responsiveness

Every political community legitimates itself by realising common interests. Political institutions are established to channel demands and political inputs into the policy making process. In democratic regimes the political institutions are evaluated against the standard of equal representation and equal responsiveness to political demands. Political decisions that are produced according to the agreed (democratic) procedures are considered to represent some sort of a "common will" and are perceived as legitimate as long as the beliefe in the fairness of the political process is upheld. At the same time the outcome of the political process – political decisions and policies – is evaluated by the citizens and the public according to their expectations.

The legitimacy of the EU has until recently ested primarily on output-oriented criteria like economic performance. The European institutions used their powers to proceed along the lines of "negative integration". The Commission and the ECJ used their competencies to abolish any obstacles to free trade and unrestricted competition. As long as those measures contributed to accelerated economic growth and did not affect core infrastructural institutions of the nation states, they were positively assessed by the national audiences. The situation became more difficult when the EC began to apply the same standards of free trade and competition to public monopolies or publicly-financed sectors of the economy like telecommunication, air traffic, transportation or energy supply. Those areas were considered in some states as belonging to the core tasks of the modern state. Conflicts over the competencies of the EU to interfere in those areas could easily lead to a withdrawal of support of the Member States. This potential of conflict has given rise to a reassessment by the EU and the ECJ of the relative importance of liberalisation, deregulation and privatisation on the one hand, and other values like the provision of public services on the other hand. "As a matter of fact, Amsterdam has taken some very explicit steps in that direction, and there have also been Council directives and decisions of the European Court of Justice which have had the effect of limiting the reach of negative integration in order to protect national solutions that could otherwise be challenged as violating the

prohibition of non-tariff barriers to trade, as interfering with the free movement of services, or as competition-distorting state aids or regulations" (Scharpf 1997c).

This shift in policy orientation can be taken as a signal that the EU has reached a point where it can no longer rely only on the doctrine of liberalisation and deregulation because this is going to undermine state functions that are considered essential for the well-being of nation state citizens. The neo-liberal tendency to a growing degree runs counter to what the founding parties had in mind when they laid down the principles of free trade and free movement of the factors of production in the constitutive treaties. That this could happen anyway is due to the legal and institutional dynamics of the EU system which privileges the supranational institutions in the implementation of Treaty provisions but makes it very difficult to reach agreement in all those areas which are directed at the positive co-ordination of policies under the condition of unanimity (see Scharpf 1994,11–44).

There is a growing awareness among politicians and the public alike that unleashing competition cannot be the cure for the problems the European nation states are facing. More positive responses and measures are needed that would help to control the dynamics of regulatory competition among the Member States which may otherwise undermine the welfare state and the social and ecological standards which were established at the national level and which are widely considered as contributing substantially to the quality of live in the European countries. Particularly from the perspective of the individual citizen the EU will only keep its output-legitimacy when it succeeds in contributing to the upholding and improvement of the standard of living in the individual countries to a considerable extent. Unlike in its early years this cannot be done by limiting itself to the task of market integration alone.

The challenge the EU is faced with consists in developing policies that meet at least three requirements: they should have the capacity to satisfy at least some of the aspirations of all member countries in a pareto-superior manner meaning that nobody should be worse off after the introduction of the respective policy, they should be compatible with the existing distribution of preferences particularly between poorer and richer Member States, and they should respect the institutional variety and different traditions of the Member States. Fulfilling these requirements would secure that the policies adopted would not be perceived as harming the level of national welfare and would not shift the relative competitive position of different countries to the disadvantage of any of them.

Such policies could be promoted at the European level by introducing values and principles that would counter-balance the economic bias and the supremacy of the goal of free trade and unrestricted and unconditional competition, which are inherent in the political arrangements of the EC/EU. The Amsterdam Treaty marks a further step in that direction by making explicit references to the goals of promoting "economic and social progress for their peoples, taking into account the principle of sustainable development within the context of the accomplishment

of the internal market and of reinforced cohesion and environmental protection, and to implement policies ensuring that advances in economic integration are accompanied by parallel progress in other fields"; "by establishing an area of feedom, security and justice" (Preamble of the TEU); and by promoting "a high level of employment and to achieve balanced and sustainable development, in particular through the creation of an area without internal frontiers, through the strengthening of economic and social cohesion and through the establishment of economic and monetary union" (new Art. 2 TEU).

It should be clear that both the Member States and the EC/EU are limited in their capacity to act and to protect the interests of their citizens. The development of a community of European citizens is therefore directly related to the ability to establish a mutually supportive relationship between the national and the European level in those areas which are of vital importance for the citizens. The focus of attention would then shift from the question of the distribution of competencies between the national and the European level to the question of how such policies would have to be designed in order to fulfil the tasks of enhancing the degree of freedom for national governments to act and of increasing the capacity of the EC/EU to compensate the negative effects of market integration and to support the adaptation of the national economic, political and social systems to the new global environment.

Policy areas in which European solutions have to be developed because national solutions are blocked or impeded by market integration and the economic pressures of regulatory competition include environmental protection, industrial relations, social policy, taxation of mobile factors of production and internal security. European solutions for the time being will not consist of universal and homogenised but differentiated minimal standards and of various means of policy co-ordination, common frameworks, objectives, and learning mechanisms that should promote a step-by-step convergence of the different national institutional systems that might in the long run pave the way for more integrated European policies to be realised. The contours of such policies are already discernible but cannot be discussed in this paper (see Scharpf 1997; 1997c; 1996).

A political community of European citizens can only be sustained to the extent that the community is perceived as legitimate. The legitimacy of the EC/EU rests to a large degree on output performance, which can be interpreted as "government for the people" in contrast to the notion of "government of and by the people" – according to the classical formulation of Abraham Lincoln. Output legitimacy is produced primarily by the policies and regulations of the EC/EU which have to be designed such as to detect and promote the common interests of the citizens. Besides policy areas like those listed above which are grounded in the functional requirement of counter-acting regulatory competition other, more positive forms of European policy making may davelop which address vital concerns of the citizens. Among those policy areas fighting unemployment, poverty and social exclusion, organized crime, drug trafficking, securing peace and security, and protecting the environment rank highest among the European

population (see Eurobarometer 1998). Advances in those policy fields may compensate for the loss of the traditional form of out put legitimacy the European integration process has relied on like high economic growth.

Only to the extent that the EC/EU succeeds in identifying and responding to those concerns the European citizens will develop a sense of loyalty and belonging. This sense of loyalty will have to be based more on an informed understanding of mutual dependence and enlightened self-interest than on emotional attachment which seems to characterise the bonds between members of national political communities.

Nevertheless, a rationally motivated sense of loyalty is likely to form the basis for a European political community of citizens to come into being. While at first sight this might prove the weakness of any conception of identity and solidarity among European citizens across national borders, one should not overlook that any sense of belonging to a community of people is not the result of inherent features or "natural" bonds among the members of a group but of the experience of living, working, and acting together to the advantage of all. Political action and political design can only create the conditions under which people can make those kinds of experiences. It is time which then probably transforms those experiences into feelings of allegiance and commitment to the group while the sources of those feelings might easily be forgotten. For the time being such a "thin" collective identity based on rational expectations of mutual benefit, respect, and equality is the only available basis a political community of European citizens could be founded on.

# 8. Conclusion

The modern nation states which developed in the Western hemisphere since the end of the 18<sup>th</sup> century are prototypical examples of what we have called "communities of citizens". Their historical success in organising large-scale societies is due to their peculiar combination of political, cultural, economic, and social elements: the state, the national culture, the national economy, and the welfare system. The close relationship between state and nation is the result of the struggle for power within and between states. The French Revolution is the best example for how nationalism as a political ideology was applied to transform a feudal society and an absolutist political regime into a modern democratised state. The government of the modern state is based on the principle of popular sovereignty. The "nation" became the symbol for the collectivity which represented the new sovereign and the citizen became its constitutive element. National movements in the revolutionary first half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century aimed at the liberalisation of the "bourgeois" as an economic agent as well as at his empowerment as a political subject. Where they were successful, the state became constitutionalised limiting his power vis a vis the individual and elements of republican government were introduced giving rise to claims for more integrative forms of democracy later on.

In a complementary move the state began to identify itself with the "nation". In order to enhance its power it began to systematically educate its subjects making them fit for the requirements of industrial production, modern warfare, and political mobilisation. Referring to the "nation" as a group of people sharing the same cultural background (however defined) since then became an effective means of justifying territorial claims by existing states and claims to form new states. In fact, the modern nation states are mostly products of warfare, ethnic cleansing, resettlement, and forced migration. The creation of several new states after the First World War and after the collapse of the Soviet Union under the doctrine of "national self-determination" proves that point. Nevertheless, its borders seldom correlate with the borders of the "nation" giving rise to the conflict-prone problem of "national minorities" which are nationals of he respective state but insist on being different and on their right to be supported in their cultural and communal reproduction.

But even the cultural commonalties of the core community of the established nation states did not suffice to integrate the "nationalised" population. Class conflicts and conflicts over the exercise of political power surfaced and led to the democratisation of the political regimes within the states and to the development of welfare systems which were designed to give substance to the claim of equality of the members of the nation. Cultural equality had to be complemented by (relative) political and socio-economic equality. Nowadays it is the specific combination of all these elements that contributes to the identification of the citizens with their nation states. It is the mixture of affective and material factors that account for the loyalty and allegiance of the citizens to their countries and for the trust and solidarity among its citizens. Trust and solidarity are not givens that grow out of the national community but are resultants of the operation and performance of the nation state.

The nation state has undergone profound transformations in the 20<sup>th</sup> century. While the idealtypical nation state is conceived as the territorial expression of a nationalised culture, a nationalised citizenry, a nationalised polity, and a nationalised economy, real world nation states display a growing mismatch. National cultures have become much more diverse and heterogeneous by the influence of transnational industrialised mass culture (consumer culture; mass media) and processes of cultural differentiation (see Matjan 1998). The national citizenry has become less unified by increasing individualism, differentiated life-styles, increasing socioeconomic inequality, and growing numbers of foreigners living on the national territory.

The state is not only an association of people called "nationals" but also an institution which controls a particular territory. Every person who is present on the state-controlled territory is subject to its jurisdiction and administrative orders. In the 90ies between 3,5% (GB) and 18,1% (Swiss) of the people residing in a European country were foreigners (see Cinar et. al. 1996, 262). Those foreigners enjoy differential civil, economic, and social rights which are also protected by the state and can be enforced by the individual. What really distinguishes nationals from foreigners are political rights – the right to vote and stand for elections, the

possibilities for political association and activity. Since the democratisation of the modern state it is the community of citizens who are eligible to participate in the processes of political selfdetermination which constitutes the core collectivity the nation state refers to. Nation states can therefore be considered primarily as political communities which make use of certain markers to delineate its populace and to address itself as a collectivity. Given the legacy of nation building it may come as a surprise that the requirements for the naturalisation of foreigners vary substantially between so-called nation states. In general they do not rely on ethnic characteristics and only in certain countries on cultural assimilation into the national society (like in Germany, Switzerland and Austria, but also in France). At the centre of immigration regimes are requirements such as the duration of residence or participation in the national educational system for second generation foreigners (see Cinar et. al. 1996, 275–313).

Furthermore, the national polity has become less cohesive by loosened party-identification, political disenchantment, and the reduced capacity of the state to control decisive social and economic parameters. And last but not least, the national economy has become much more open and dependent on developments in globalised markets (see Held 1995, 121–140). Those are the main transformations of the nation state which have also transformed the meaning and conditions for community building on the terrain and in the framework of the EC/EU.

European integration was and still is primarily a process of market and polity integration as was demonstrated above. Unlike the integration of the nation state, European integration is a voluntary process in which developed nation states participate under the premise of democracy, market economy, and developed educational and cultural systems and with the objective of increasing economic growth and overall welfare. The different starting point and the different conditions of European in contrast to nation state integration explain why European integration has taken a different course, relies on different means and instruments, and is confronted with different obstacles although it is faced with homologue problems. While the nation state took the route from local community to national society to national political community, European integration is on a route from national political community to European market society and may become a European political community.

The nation state developed a national political community by making the territorial reach of culture, politics, economics, and society congruent within its borders. Such coincidence was functional in regard of the transformation of agrarian into industrial society, of the feudal into a market economy and of the absolutist into the modern state, which was eager to mobilise its citizenry for the purpose of warfare and the accumulation of power. European integration does not intend and does not need to achieve the same kind of congruence. The functional requirements of market and polity integration do not imply to build up homogenous and unified cultural and educational systems, nor do they imply the replication of centralised state power at the European level, nor the establishment of a unified administrative structure in Europe, and

the national economies have become less controllable even by a would-be European government, and central elements like capital markets have even become global.

Whatever were the motives of the political actors who set in motion and still pursue European integration, market and polity integration itself had one peculiar effect which, on the one hand, broadens the possibility space for integration: borders have become less important within Europe both economically (common market) and politically (war excluded, territorial and societal borders do not coincide any more). Even the capacity of the state to sustain national culture within its border is decreasing by the spread of transnational consumer culture, transnational mass media, post-material values, and internal cultural differentiation. This is not to say that national identity will vanish or that it will be superseded by a European identity. It means that national identity has become less "dense" and "uniform" even within a given nation state, that national identity has become less exclusive and inside-oriented, and that even in the field of culture some form of European co-ordination and action is needed in order to protect the integrity of national identities in Europe against spill-over effects from the common market.

On the other hand, functional requirements have shifted. They consist of how to regain capacities to act both at the nation state and at the European level to protect and perhaps improve the standard of living, the quality of live, and the liberal and democratic standards of legitimacy that provide for the acceptance and acceptability of the structures and measures which will have to be developed for those purposes. Those requirements are less demanding than those which led to the rise of the nation state and their fulfilment is made easier by the given structures of the nation states. This broadens the scope for choice concerning the areas, purposes, means and instruments for integration and co-operation at the European level.

Such a conclusion might seem counter-intuitive since resistance against further moves of integration has increased and public criticism of the workings of the European institutions spread. This apparent paradox can easily be resolved by taking into account that European integration has become politicised in the 90ies particularly because of important transfers of sovereignty to the EC/EU (emu), because contested projects like Eastern enlargement were put on the agenda, and because unfavourable economic developments occurred that were partly related to economic integration (convergence programmes, stability pact, high unemployment etc.). With the realisation of the common market programme the image of the EU deteriorated because it was perceived as a centre from which decisions emerge which do not necessarily please all audiences. It also became obvious that the full potential of the common market would only be realised if not only legal obstacles but also cultural (attitudes, information, languages) and bureaucratic obstacles would be addressed as a matter of common concern.

What the dispute about the Maastricht Treaty and the subsequent transfer of sovereignty to the EC/EU level demonstrated was that governments could not automatically expect their peoples

to follow their lead. It does not mean that European integration as such should not proceed. As a reaction to the public discussions about the project of monetary union and the growing role of the EC/EU in many policy areas some governments and the EC took the position that deepening integration would also imply to involve the citizens more directly. This was the point when discourses on "bringing the EU closer to the citizens", on tackling the "democratic deficit", and on taking the concerns of the citizens (like employment, security, etc.) more seriously emerged. The aim of these discourses clearly was to win the approval of the citizens and to legitimise the strengthened authority of the EU.

The main aim of the paper was to substantiate the view that European integration will only become sustainable in the long run, will be backed by the active approval of the citizens, and gain its own strand of legitimacy when the problem of developing a political community of European citizens will be directly addressed. Contrasting the historical development of the West-European nation states with the conditions in the EC/EU, we came to the conclusion that a community of European citizens cannot and need not be based on a programme of "nation building" or cultural homogenisation which was the main strategy to create a community of citizens at the nation state level. Instead, a political community of European citizens has to be based on cultural diversity and the integrative mechanisms of political systems in general. Several strategies where identified that could contribute to such a development and which should be explored in greater detail :

- balancing a "politics of identity" with a "politics of difference" in the cultural sphere,
- reconstructing democracy in the framework of the EU,
- promoting a politics of equality regarding individual rights,
- enhancing the political capacity to act both at the national as well as at the European level, and
- addressing the common concerns of the European citizens within the policies of the EU.

# 9. References

- Abromeit, H. (1997). Direkte Demokratie und Föderalismus in der Europäischen Union. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 207–221). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Aguiar, J. (1994). Die Krise des Nationalstaats und die europäischen Institutionen. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), *Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie?* (pp. 102–110). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.
- Alvira, R. (1997). Individuality and the EU Project. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), Democracy and the European Union (pp. 204–213). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Andersen, C. (1996). European Union Policy making and National institutions the Case of Belgium. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It?* (pp. 83–100). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Andersen, S. S., & Eliassen, K. A. (1996). EU-Lobbying: Between Representativity and Effectiveness. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It*? (pp. 41–55). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Andersen, S. S., & Eliassen, K. A. (1996). Introduction: Dilemmas, Contradictions and the Future of European Democracy. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It*? (pp. 1–11). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Andersen, S. S., & Burns, T. (1996). The European Union and the Erosion of Parliamentary Democracy: A Study of Post-parliamentary Governance. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It*? (pp. 227–251). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Andersen, S. S., & Eliassen, K. A. (1996). Democracy: Traditional Concerns in new Institutional Settings. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It?* (pp. 253–267). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Anderson, B. (1983). Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism. London: Verso.

- Anderson, C. (1995). Economic Uncertainty and European Solidarity Revisited: Trends in Public Support for European Integration. In C. Rhodes & S. Mazey (Eds.), *The State of the European Union 3: Building a European Polity?* (pp. 111–134). Essex: Longman Group.
- Anderson, M. M. (1993). Auf der Suche nach Grenzen: Europäische Kultur aus einer amerikanischen Sicht, Einwanderung und supranationale Identität. In A. v. Bogdandy (Ed.), Die Europäische Option (pp. 323–330). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Angelucci, O. (1993). Die europäische Identität der Europäer: Eine sozialpsychologische Bestandsaufnahme. In A. v. Bogdandy (Ed.), *Die Europäische Option* (pp. 303–321). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Arbeitsgruppe "Europäische Verfassung." (1991). Wie Europa verfaßt sein soll. Vorschläge zur institutionellen Weiterentwicklung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft. In W. Weidenfeld (Ed.), Wie Europa verfaßt sein soll. Materialien zur Politischen Union (pp. 11–37). Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung.
- Armstrong, J. (1982). *Nations before Nationalism.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Avril, P. (1996). The democratic institutions of European countries. In A.-M. Rieu & G. Duprat (Eds.), *European Democratic Culture* (pp. 211–233). London: Routledge.
- Barker, R. (1996). Democracy and individual freedom. In A.-M. Rieu & G. Duprat (Eds.), *European Democratic Culture* (pp. 83–104). London: Routledge.
- Bauböck, R. (1997). Citizenship and National Identities in the European Union. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 297–331). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Bellamy, R., & Castiglione, D. (1997). Building the Union: The Nature of Sovereignty in the Political Architecture of Europe. *Law and Philosophy, 16,* 421–445.
- Bellamy, R., & Castiglione, D. (1997). The Normative Challenge of a European Polity: Cosmopolitan and Communitarian Models Compared, Criticised and Combined. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 254–284). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.

- Bellamy, R., & Castiglione, D. (1997). Review Article: Constitutionalism and Democracy Political Theory and the American Constitution. *British Journal of Political Science, 27,* 595–618.
- Berten, A. (1994). Europäische Identität Einzahl oder Mehrzahl? Überlegungen zu den Entstehungsprozessen von Identität. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie? (pp. 55–66). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.
- Bieber, R. (1997, Oktober). Institutionen und Verfahren. integration, 20(4), 236-246.
- Bieling, H.-J., & Deppe, F. (1996). Internationalisierung, Integration und politische Regulierung.
  In M. Jachtenfuchs & B. Kohler-Koch (Eds.), *Europäische Integration* (pp. 481–511).
  Opladen: Leske + Budrich.
- Bindi, F. M. (1996). Italy: In Need of More EU Democracy. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It?* (pp. 101–115). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Bitterlich, J. (1994). Die Verankerung des Subsidiaritätsprinzips und seine operative Umsetzung. In W. Weidenfeld (Ed.), *Reform der Europäischen Union. Materialien zur Revision des Maastrichter Vertrages 1996* (pp. 177–189). Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung.
- BKA/BMaA. (1997, 26.6.1997). Der Vertrag von Amsterdam. Das Ergebnis der Regierungskonferenz 1996/97.
- Bogdandy, A. v. (1993). Die Verfassung der europäischen Integrationsgemeinschaft als supranationale Union. In A. v. Bogdandy (Ed.), *Die Europäische Option* (pp. 97–127). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Bongert, E. (1995). Transnationale Demokratie aus feministischer Sicht. In R. Erne, A. Gross,
  B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 60–92). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Bosch, A., & Newton, K. (1994). The Economic Basis of Attitudes towards the European Community: Familiarity Breeds Content? *Political Science Series.*
- Bracher, K. D. (1995). Europa zwischen Demokratie und Nationalstaat. In W. Weidenfeld (Ed.), Reform der Europäischen Union. Materialien zur Revision des Maastrichter Vertrages 1996 (pp. 243–255). Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung.

- Breuss, F. (1997). Überblick über die theoretischen Überlegungen zur "optimum currency area." In J. Baumgartner, F. Breuss, H. Kramer & E. Walterskirchen (Eds.), Auswirkungen der Wirtschafts- und Währungsunion (pp. 155–172). Wien: Österreichisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung.
- Brubaker, R. (1996). *Nationalism reframed. Nationhood and the national question in the New Europe.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Búrca, G. d. (1996). The Language of Rights and European Integration. In J. Shaw & G. More (Eds.), New Legal Dynamics of European Union (pp. 29–54). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Camps, V. (1994). Die europäische Identität eine moralische Integrität. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie? (pp. 67–70). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.
- Canovan, M. (1996). Nationhood and Political Theory. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar.
- Closa, C. (1992). The Concept of Citizenship in the Treaty on European Union. *Common Market Law Review, 29,* 1137–1169.
- Closa, C. (1995). Citizenship of the Union and Nationality of Member States. *Common Market Law Review, 32,* 487–518.
- Cot, J.-P., & Corbett, R. (1996). Democracy and the construction of Europe. In A.-M. Rieu & G. Duprat (Eds.), *European Democratic Culture* (pp. 235–258). London: Routledge.
- Çinar, D. e. (1996). *Rechtliche Integration von Einwanderern im internationalen Vergleich.* Political Science Series. Wien: Institute for Advanced Studies.
- Dahl, R. A. (1971). *Polyarchy. Participation and Opposition.* New Haven; London: Yale University Press.
- Dellavalle, S. (1993). Für einen normativen Begriff von Europa: Nationalstaat und europäische Einigung im Lichte der politischen Theorie. In A. v. Bogdandy (Ed.), *Die Europäische Option* (pp. 237–266). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Dumont, H. (1994). Die Zuständigkeiten der Europäischen Gemeinschaft auf dem Gebiet der Kultur. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie? (pp. 119–142). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.

- d'Oliveira, H. U. J. (1994). European Citizenship: Its Meaning, Its Potential. In R. Dehousse (Ed.), *Europe after Maastricht. An Ever Closer Union?* (pp. 126–148). München: C.H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.
- Earnshaw, D., & Judge, D. (1996). From co-operation to do-decision: The European Parliament's path to legislative power. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 96–126). London: Routledge.
- Edwards, G. (1996). National sovereignty vs integration? The Council of Ministers. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 127–147). London: Routledge.
- Erne, R. (1995). Für ein Europa der direkten Bürgerinnen- und Bürgerbeteiligung. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 215–233). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Das Europa der Bürger in einer Gemeinschaft ohne Binnengrenzen (S. Magiera, Ed.). (1990). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Europäische Strukturkommission. (1994). Europa '96 Reformprogramm für die Europäische Union. In W. Weidenfeld (Ed.), *Reform der Europäischen Union* (pp. 11–55). Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung.
- European Commission. (1993). First Report on Unioncitizenship. Brussels: Author.
- European Commission. (1996). Für ein Europa der politischen und sozialen Grundrechte Bericht des Komitees der Weisen. Luxemburg: Author.
- European Commission. (1996). *Wirkung und Wirksamkeit des Binnenmarktes* [Mitteilung der Europäischen Kommission an das Europäische Parlament]. Brussels: Author.
- European Commission. (1996–11). Bulletin der EU (p. point 1.3.225). Brussels: Author.
- European Commission. (1997). *Promoting the role of voluntary organisations and foundations in Europe* [Communication]. Brussels: Author.
- European Commission. (1997). Second report of the European Commission on Citizenship of the Union. Brussels: Author.

European Commission. (1998). Eurobarometer Report No. 48. Brussels: Author.

- Everling, U. (1994). Kompetenzordnung und Subsidiarität. In W. Weidenfeld (Ed.), Reform der Europäischen Union. Materialien zur Revision des Maastrichter Vertrages 1996 (pp. 166– 176). Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung.
- Evers, T. (1995). Grenzen der Demokratie und Politische Union. Schritte zu einem europäischen Gesellschaftsvertrag. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 139–177). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Everson, M. (1995). The Legacy of the Market Citizen. In J. Shaw & G. More (Eds.), *New Legal Dynamics of European Union* (pp. 73–90). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Étienne, B. (1994). Europa und der Islam: Europa und sein Gegenüber. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), *Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie?* (pp. 143–154). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.
- Falkner, G., & Nentwich, M. (1995). *European Union: Democratic Perspectives after 1996.* Wien: Service Fachverlag.
- Falkner, G., & Nentwich, M. (1997, 25.8.). Falkner, G., & Nentwich, M. (1997, 25.8.). The Treaty of Amsterdam: Towards a New Institutional Balance. *European Integration online Papers (EloP)* [Online] 1(15). Available: http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/1997-015a.htm.
- Ferry, J.-M. (1994). Europäische Identität und europäischer Bürgerstatus. Anmerkungen zum Gipfel von Maastricht. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie? (pp. 111–118). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.
- Ferry, J.-M. (1994). Die Relevanz des Postnationalen. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie? (pp. 30–41). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.
- Føllesdal, A. (1997). Democracy and Federalism in the European Union. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 231–253). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Føllesdal, A. (1997). Democracy and the European Union: Challenges. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 1–10). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.

- Franklin, M. (1996). European elections and the European voter. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 187–199). London: Routledge.
- Gabriel, O. W. (1992). Die EG-Staaten im Vergleich. Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag.
- Gaffney, J. (1996). Introduction: Political parties and the European Union. In J. Gaffney (Ed.), *Political Parties and the European Union* (pp. 1–30). London: Routledge.
- Gaffney, J. (1996). Introduction: Political parties and the European Union. In J. Gaffney (Ed.), *Political Parties and the European Union* (pp. 1–30). London: Routledge.
- Gellner, E. (1988). Nations and Nationalism. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Giddens, A. (1985). The Nation state and Violence. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Gross, A. (1995). Eine euroäische Verfassung als Fundament für eine transnationale direktere – Demokratie. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 178– 195). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Guild, E. (1996). The legal framework of citizenship of the European Union. In D. Cesarani & M. Fulbrook (Eds.), *Citizenship, Nationality and Migration in Europe* (pp. 30–54). London; New York: Routledge.
- Gustavsson, R. (1996). The European Union: 1996 and Beyond a Personal View from the Sideline. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It*? (pp. 217–226). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Gustavsson, S. (1997). Double Asymmetry as Normative Challenge. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 108–134). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Gutman, A., & Thompson, D. (1996). *Democracy and Disagreement. Why moral conflict cannot be avoided in politics, and what should be done about it.* Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Gutmann, A., & Thompson, D. (1996). *Democracy and Disagreement.* Cambridge; London: Harvard University Press.
- Haas, E. B. (1958). *The Uniting of Europe: Political, Social and Economic Forces 1950–1957.* Stanford: Stanford University Press.

- Habermas, J. (1985). Theorie des kommunikativen Handelns. Band 2. Zur Kritik der funktionalistischen Vernunft. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Habermas, J. (1995). Braucht Europa eine Verfassung? Eine Bemerkung zu Dieter Grimm. InJ. Habermas (Ed.), *Die Einbeziehung des Anderen. Studien zur politischen Theorie* (pp. 185–191). Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Habermas, J. (1997). Drei normative Modelle der Demokratie. In J. Habermas (Ed.), Die Einbeziehung des Anderen. Studien zur politischen Theorie (pp. 277–292). Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Habermas, J. (1997). Der europäische Nationalstaat Zu Vergangenheit und Zukunft von Souveränität und Staatsbürgerschaft. In J. Habermas (Ed.), *Die Einbeziehung des Anderen. Studien zur politischen Theorie* (pp. 128–153). Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Habermas, J. (1997). Inklusion Einbeziehen oder Einschließen? Zum Verhältnis von Nation,
   Rechtsstaat und Demokratie. In J. Habermas (Ed.), *Die Einbeziehung des Anderen. Studien zur politischen Theorie* (pp. 154–184). Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Hanson, R. L. (1997). Democracy in Multicultural Societies and Multinational Settings. In A.
  Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 135–159).
  Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Hassner, P. (1994). Die europäische Einigung und der Umbruch in Osteuropa. Identität und Öffnung. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), *Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie*? (pp. 169–182). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.
- Haupt, V. (1993). Über den Bau demokratischer Institutionen im Prozeß der europäischen Einigung. In A. v. Bogdandy (Ed.), *Die Europäische Option* (pp. 217–235). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Hayes-Renshaw, F. (1996). The Role of the Council. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It?* (pp. 143–163). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Hayward, J. (1995). Organized Interests and Public Policies. In J. Hayward & E. C. Page (Eds.), *Governing the New Europe* (pp. 224–256). Cambridge: Polity Press.

Häberle, P. (1997). Europäische Rechtskultur. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.

Held, D. (1995). Democracy and the Global Order. London: Polity Press.

- Hesse, J. J., & Wright, V. (1996). Federalizing Europe: The Path to Adjustment. In J. J. Hesse
  & V. Wright (Eds.), *Federalizing Europe? The Costs, Benefits, and Preconditions of Federal Political Systems* (pp. 374–400). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hilf, M. (1995). Europäische Union und nationale Identität der Mitgliedstaaten. In A. Randelzhofer, R. Scholz & D. Wilke (Eds.), *Gedächtnisschrift für Eberhard Grabitz* (pp. 157–170). München: C.H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.
- Hilf, M. (1997, Oktober). Die Union und die Bürger: Nicht viel Neues, aber immerhin. *integration*, 20(4), 247–254.
- Hirsch, J. (1995). Der nationale Wettbewerbsstaat. Staat, Demokratie und Politik im globalen Kapitalismus. Berlin; Amsterdam: Edition ID-Archiv.
- Hix, S. (1996). The transnational party federations. In J. Gaffney (Ed.), *Political Parties and the European Union* (pp. 308–331). London: Routledge.
- Hobsbawm, E., & Ranger, T. (1996). *The Invention of Tradition* (12). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Holm, E. (1994). *Europe, a Political Culture? Fundamental Issues for the 1996 IGC.* London: The Royal Institute of International Affairs.
- Hrbek, R. (1995). Der Vertrag von Maastricht und das Demokratiedefizit der Europäischen Union – Auf dem Weg zu stärkerer demokratischer Legitimation? In A. Randelzhofer, R. Scholz & D. Wilke (Eds.), *Gedächtnisschrift für Eberhard Grabitz* (pp. 171–193). München: C.H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.
- Hübner, K. (1995). Spielräume transnationaler Demokratie in einer globalen Ökonomie. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 93–108). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Hunnings, Neville March (1996). The European Courts. London: Cartermill.
- Jachtenfuchs, M. (1997). Democracy and Governance in the European Union. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 37–64). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Jacobs, P. (1995). Der Homo oeconomicus und die integrierende Wirkung einer europäischen Referendums. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale*

*Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 246–260). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.

- Janning, J. (1995). Politische und institutionelle Konsequenzen der Erweiterung. In W. Weidenfeld (Ed.), Reform der Europäischen Union. Materialien zur Revision des Maastrichter Vertrages 1996 (pp. 265–280). Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung.
- Jenkins, B., & Sofos, S. A. (1996). Nation and Nationalism in Contemporary Europe: A Theoretical Perspective. In B. Jenkins & S. A. Sofos (Eds.), Nation and Identity in Contemporary Europe (pp. 9–32). London: Routledge.
- Jenkins/Sofos 1996. (1996). In B. Jenkins & S. A. Sofos (Eds.), *Nation & Identity in Contemporary Europe*. London: Routledge.
- Kapteyn, P. (1996). The Stateless Market. The European Dilemma of Integration and *Civilization*. London, New York: Routledge.
- Kaufmann, B. (1995). Unterwegs zur transnationalen Demokratie. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 17–33). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Kaufmann, M. (1997). *Europäische Integration und Demokratieprinzip.* Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Keating, M., & Hooghe Liesbet. (1996). By-passing the nation state? Regions and the EU policy process. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 216–229). London: Routledge.
- Kielmansegg, P. G. (1995). Läßt sich die Europäische Union demokratisch verfassen? In W. Weidenfeld (Ed.), *Reform der Europäischen Union. Materialien zur Revision des Maastrichter Vertrages 1996* (pp. 229–242). Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung.
- Kielmansegg, P. G. (1996). Integration und Demokratie. In M. Jachtenfuchs & B. Kohler-Koch (Eds.), *Europäische Integration* (pp. 47–71). Opladen: Leske + Budrich.
- Kleger, H. (1995). Transnationale Staatsbürgerschaft: Zur Arbeit an einem europäischen Bürgerstatus. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 34–59). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.

- Kohler-Koch, B. (1996). Die Gestaltungsmacht organisierter Interessen. In M. Jachtenfuchs & B. Kohler-Koch (Eds.), *Europäische Integration* (pp. 193–222). Opladen: Leske + Budrich.
- Koslowski, P. (1997). Fatherland Europe? On European and National Identity and Democratic Sovereignty. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 214–230). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Kosonen, P. (1995). Soziale Rechte als Basis für ein demokratisches Europa. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 261–280). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Kourvetaris, A. G., & Kourvetaris, G. A. (1996). Attitudes Toward European Integration: Ethnic and Cultural Dimensions. In A. G. Kourvetaris & G. A. Kourvetaris (Eds.), *The Impact of European Integration. Political, Sociological, and Economic Changes* (pp. 151–167). Westport: Praeger Publishers.
- Küsters, H.-J. (1993). The Treaties of Rome. In R. Pryce (Ed.), *The Dynamics of European Union* (pp. 78–104). London: Routledge.
- Ladrech, R. (1996). Political parties in the European Parliament. In J. Gaffney (Ed.), *Political Parties and the European Union* (pp. 291–307). London: Routledge.
- Lane, J. E., Matand, R., & Berg, S. (1996). Voting Power Under the EU Constitution. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It?* (pp. 165– 185). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Langer, A. (1995). Nationalismus und Föderalismus in Europa. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 234–245). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Laursen, F. (1996). The Role of the Commission. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It?* (pp. 119–141). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Laursen, F., Vanhoonacker, S., & Wester, R. (1992). Overview of Negotiations. In S. Vanhoonacker & F. Laursen (Eds.), *The Intergovernmental Conference on Political Union* (pp. 3–24). Maastricht: European Institute for Public Administration.
- Lavigne, M. (1995). Market Economies as Project and Practice. In J. Hayward & E. C. Page (Eds.), *Governing the New Europe* (pp. 93–119). Cambridge: Polity Press.

- Läufer, T. (1995). Zum Stand der Verfassungsdiskussion in der Europäischen Union. In A. Randelzhofer, R. Scholz & D. Wilke (Eds.), *Gedächtnisschrift für Eberhard Grabitz* (pp. 355–368). München: C.H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.
- Leggewie, C. (1994). Liberale Bürgergesellschaft und Multikulturalismus. Schwierigkeiten der Vielvölkerrepublik. In H. Mandt (Ed.), *Die Zukunft der Bürgergesellschaft in Europa* (pp. 71–88). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Legutko, R. (1997). Justice vs. culture: Which comes first? In P. B. Lehning & A. Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 50–68). London; New York: Routledge.
- Lehning, P. B. (1997). European citizenship: A mirage? In P. B. Lehning & A. Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 175–199). London; New York: Routledge.
- Lehning, P. B. (1997). Pluralism, contractarianism and European Union. In P. B. Lehning & A. Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 107–124). London; New York: Routledge.
- Lehning, P. B., & Weale, A. (1997). Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe. In P. B. Lehning & A. Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 1–14). London; New York: Routledge.
- Lenoble, J. (1994). Identität und Demokratie in Europa denken. In N. Dewandre & J. Lenoble (Eds.), Projekt Europa. Postnationale Identität: Grundlage für eine europäische Demokratie? (pp. 183–197). Berlin: Schelzky & Jeep.
- Lequesne, C. (1996). The French EU-Decision-making: Between Destabilisation and Adaptation. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It*? (pp. 73–81). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Lijphart, A. (1984). Democracies. Patterns of Majoritarian and Consensus Government in Twenty-One Countries. New Haven, London: Routledge.
- Linz, J. J., & Stepan, A. (1996). Problems of Democratic Transition and Consolidation. Southern Europe, South America, and Post-Communist Europe. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

- Lodge, J. (1996). The European Parliament. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It?* (pp. 187–214). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Lodge, J. (1997). Strengthening the European Parliament and its Alternatives. In E. Antalovsky,
   J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 167–191). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Ludlow, P., & Ersbøll. (1994). Towards 1996: The Agenda of the Intergovernmental Conference. Brussels: Centre for European Policy Studies.
- Majone, G. (1996). A European regulatory state? In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 263–277). London: Routledge.
- Majone, G. (1997). The European Union: Positive State or Regulatory State? In E. Antalovsky,
   J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 149–166). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Mancini, F. G. (1991). The making of a constitution for Europe. h R. O. Keohane & S. Hoffmann (Eds.), *The new European community* (pp. 177 194). Oxford: Westview Press.
- Marias, E. A. (1994). From Market Citizen to Union Citizen. In E. A. Marias (Ed.), *European Citizenship* (pp. 1–24). Maastricht: European Institute for Public Administration.
- Marias, E. A. (1994a). Introduction. In E. A. Marias (Ed.), *The European Ombudsman* (pp. ixx). Maastricht: European Institute for Public Administration.
- Matjan, G. (1998). Auseinandersetzung mit der Vielfalt. Politische Kultur und Lebensstile in pluralistischen Gesellschaften. Frankfurt am Main: Campus Verlag.
- Matláry, J. H. (1997). Democratic Legitimacy and the Role of the Commission. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 65–80). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Mattli, W., & Slaughter, A.-M. (1996). Mattli, W., & Slaughter, A.-M. (1996). Constructing the European Community Legal System From the Ground Up: The Role of Individual Litigants and National Courts. Available: http://www.law.harvard.edu/Programs/JeanMonnet/ (Accessed 6.2.1997).
- Mazey, S., & Richardson, J. (1996). The logic of organisation: Interest group. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 200–215). London: Routledge.

- Meehan, E. (1996). The Debate on Citizenship and European Union. In P. Murray & P. Rich (Eds.), *Visions of European Unity* (pp. 201–223). Boulder: Westview Press.
- Meehan, E. (1997). Political pluralism and European citizenship. In P. B. Lehning & A. Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 69–85). London; New York: Routledge.
- Melchior, J. (1997, December). Crafting the "Common Will." The IGC 1996 from an Austrian Perspective. *Political Science Series, 52.*
- Melchior, J. (1997). Perspektiven und Probleme der Demokratisierung der Europäischen Union. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union (pp. 11–66). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Mezey, M. (1995). Parliament in the New Europe. In J. Hayward & E. C. Page (Eds.), Governing the New Europe (pp. 196–223). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Midgaard, K. (1997). The Problem of Autonomy and Democracy in a Complex Polity: The European Union. In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 189–203). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.

Milward, A. S. (1995). The European Rescue of the Nation State. London: Routledge.

- Morass, M. (1997). Mehrheitsdemokratie versus Föderalismus. Demokratie im Mehrebenensystem der Europäischen Union. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 223– 241). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Moravcsik, A. (1991). Negotiating the Single European Act. *International Organization, 45*(1), 651–688.
- Moussis, N. (1997). Access to European Union. Law, Economics, Policies. Genval: Euroconfidentiel s.a.
- Murphy, A. B. (1996). The sovereign state system as political-territorial ideal: Historical and contemporary considerations. In T. J. Biersteker & C. Weber (Eds.), *State Sovereignty as Social Construct* (pp. 81–120). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Narr, W.-D., & Schubert, A. (1994). *Weltökonomie. Die Misere der Politik.* Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.

- Nentwich, M. (1997). The EU Intergovernmental Conference 1996/97: The Moment of Constitutional Choice for a Democratic Europe? In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), Democracy and the European Union (pp. 81–107). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Newman, M. (1996). *Democracy, Sovereignty and the European Union.* New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Nida-Rümelin, J. (1997). Structural rationality, democratic citizenship and the new Europe. In P.
  B. Lehning & A. Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 34–49). London; New York: Routledge.
- Niedermayer, O., & Sinnott, R. (1995). *Public Opinion and Internationalized Government*. Beliefs in Government, vol. 2. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Nugent, N. (1994). *The Government and Politics of the European Union*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Oommen, T. (1997). Introduction: Conceptualizing the Linkage between Citizenship and National Identity. In T. Oommen (Ed.), *Citizenship and National Identity. From Colonialism* to Globalism (pp. 13–51). New Delhi; Thousand Oaks; London: Sage Publications.
- Page, E. C. (1995). Patterns and Diversity in European State Development. In J. Hayward & E.C. Page (Eds.), *Governing the New Europe* (pp. 9–43). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Parry, R. (1995). Redefining the Welfare State. In J. Hayward & E. C. Page (Eds.), Governing the New Europe (pp. 374–400). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Pedersen, M. N. (1996). Euro-parties and European Parties: New Arenas, New Challenges and New Strategies. In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It*? (pp. 15–39). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Pelinka, A. (1997). Federation or Confederation: The Dilemma of Democracy. In E. Antalovsky,
   J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 143–148). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Pernice, I. (1995). Einheit und Kooperation: Das Gemeinschaftsrecht im Lichte der Rechtssprechung von EuGH und nationalen Gerichten. In A. Randelzhofer, R. Scholz & D. Wilke (Eds.), *Gedächtnisschrift für Eberhard Grabitz* (pp. 523–550). München: C.H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.

- Petite, M. (1998). Petite, M. (1998). The Treaty of Amsterdam. Available: http://www.law.harvard.edu/Programs/JeanMonnet/.
- Petroni, A. M. (1997). A liberal view on a European constitution. In P. B. Lehning & A. Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 86–106). London; New York: Routledge.
- Pinder, J. (1991). *European Community. The Building of a Union.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pintarits, S. (1996). Macht, Demokratie und Regionen in Europa. Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Pogge, T. W. (1997). How to Create Supra-National Institutions Democratically. Some Reflections on the European Union's 'Democratic Deficit.' In A. Følesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 160–185). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.

The Politics of European Integration (M. O'Neill, Ed.). (1996). London: Routledge.

- Puntscher Riekmann, S. (1997). Demokratie im supranationalen Raum. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 69–110). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Randelzhofer, A. (1995). Marktbürgerschaft Unionsbürgerschaft Staatsbürgerschaft. In A.
   Randelzhofer, R. Scholz & D. Wilke (Eds.), *Gedächtnisschrift für Eberhard Grabitz* (pp. 581–594). München: C.H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.
- Rebsamen, H. (1995). Geschlechterparität reicht nicht aus! Probleme einer europäischfeministischen Praxis. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 281– 289). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Reif, K. (1993). Ein Ende des "permissive consensus?" Zum Wandel europapolitischer Einstellungen in der öffentlichen Meinung der EG-Mitgliedstaaten. In R. Hrbek (Ed.), Der Vertrag von Maastricht in der wissenschaftlichen Kontroverse (pp. 19–40). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Richardson, J. (1996). Eroding EU policies: Implementation gaps, cheating and re-steering. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 278–294). London: Routledge.

- Richardson, J. (1996). Policy making in the EU: Interests, ideas and garbage cans of primeval soup. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 3-23). London: Routledge.
- Rose, R. (1995). Dynamics of Democratic Regimes. In J. Hayward & E. C. Page (Eds.), *Governing the New Europe* (pp. 67–92). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Scharpf, F. W. (1994). Die Politikverflechtungsfalle. In F. W. Scharpf (Ed.), Optionen des Föderalismus in Deutschland und Europa (pp. 11–44). Frankfurt am Main, New York: Campus Verlag.
- Scharpf, F. W. (1994a). Kann es in Europa eine stabile föderale Balance geben? In F. W. Scharpf (Ed.), Optionen des Föderalismus in Deutschland und Europa (pp. 117–130). Frankfurt am Main, New York: Campus Verlag.
- Scharpf, F. W. (1994b). Regionalisierung des europäischen Raumes. Die Zukunft der Bundesländer im Spannungsfeld zwischen EG, Bund und Kommunen. In F. W. Scharpf (Ed.), Optionen des Föderalismus in Deutschland und Europa (pp. 92–116). Frankfurt am Main; New York: Campus Verlag.
- Scharpf, F. W. (1996). Politische Optionen im vollendeten Binnenmarkt. In M. Jachtenfuchs & B. Kohler-Koch (Eds.), *Europäische Integration* (pp. 109–140). Opladen: Leske + Budrich.
- Scharpf, F. W. (1997). Wege zur Zivilisierung des Eurokapitalismus. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 365–375). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Scharpf, F. W. (1997c, November). Balancing Positive and Negative Integration: The Regulatory Options for Europe. (MPIfG Working Paper, no. 8). Köln: Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies.
- Schiller, T. (1995). Europäische Verfassungs-Initiative ein demokratischer Verfassungsprozess für Europa. In R. Erne, A. Gross, B. Kaufmann & H. Kleger (Eds.), *Transnationale Demokratie. Impulse für ein demokratisch verfasstes Europa* (pp. 196–211). Zürich: Realotopia Verlagsgenossenschaft.
- Schink, G. (1993). Auf dem Weg in eine europäische Gesellschaft? In A. v. Bogdandy (Ed.), *Die Europäische Option* (pp. 269–283). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.

- Schmitter, P. C. (1997). Is It Really Possible to Democratize the Euro-Polity? In A. Følesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 13–36). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer.
- Schneider, H. (1977). *Leitbilder der Europapolitik 1: Der Weg zur Integration.* Bonn: Europa Union Verlag.
- Schneider, H. (1990). Alleingang nach Brüssel. Österreichs EG-Politik. Bonn: Europa Union Verlag.
- Schneider, H. (1994). Die Europäische Union von Maastricht ein "Europa der Bürger?". In H. Mandt (Ed.), Die Zukunft der Bürgergesellschaft in Europa (pp. 27–58). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Schneider, H. (1995). Die Europäische Union als Staatenverbund oder als multinationale "Civitas Europea." In A. Randelzhofer, R. Scholz & D. Wilke (Eds.), *Gedächtnisschrift für Eberhard Grabitz* (pp. 677–724). München: C.H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.
- Schneider, H. (1997). Verfassungskonzeptionen für die Europäische Union. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 111–141). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Schneider, H., & Hrbek, R. (1980). Die Europäische Union im Werden. In H. v. d. Groeben, R. Hrbek & H. Schneider (Eds.), Die Europäische Union als Prozeß (pp. 209–472). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Schönfelder, W., Silberberg, R., Brok, E., & Nickel, D. (1997, Oktober). Entstehung und Bewertung. *integration*, 20(4), 203–210.
- Shain, Y., & Linz, J. J. (1995). *Between States. Interim Governments and Democratic Transitions.* New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Shaw, J. (1995). Identity and Difference: The European Union and Postmodernity. In J. Shaw & G. More (Eds.), New Legal Dynamics of European Union (pp. 15–28). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Smith, A. (1991). National Identity. Reno; Las Vegas; London: University of Nevada Press.
- Smith, A. (1995). The Nations of Europe after the Cold War. In J. Hayward & E. C. Page (Eds.), Governing the New Europe (pp. 44–66). Cambridge: Polity Press.

- Smith, J. (1996). How European are European Elections? In J. Gaffney (Ed.), Political Parties and the European Union (pp. 275–290). London: Routledge.
- Soysal, Y. N. (1996). Changing Citizenship in Europe: Remarks on Postnational Membership and the National State. In D. Cesarani & M. Fulbrook (Eds.), *Citizenship, Nationality and Migration in Europe* (pp. 17–29). London; New York: Routledge.
- Spence, D. (1994). Staff and personnel policy in the Commission. In G. Edwards & D. Spence (Eds.), *The European Commission* (pp. 62–96). Essex: Stockton.
- Stone, A. (1995). Governing with Judges: The New Constitutionalism. In J. Hayward & E. C. Page (Eds.), *Governing the New Europe* (pp. 286–314). Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Streeck, W. (1996). Public Power Beyond the Nation State. The Case of the European Community. In R. Boyer & D. Drache (Eds.), States against Markets. The Limits of Globalization (pp. 299–315). London, New York: Routledge.
- Streißler, E. (1997). "Amerikanisierung" Europas? Zur Vereinbarkeit von Wirtschaftsliberalismus und demokratischem Wohlfahrtsstaat. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), Integration durch Demokratie (pp. 355–363). Magdeburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Sweet, A. S., & Brunell, T. L. (1998, March). Constructing a Supranational Constitution: Dispute Resolution and Governance in the European Community. *American Political Science Review*, 92(1), 63–82.
- Sweet, A. S., & Brunell, T. L. (1998, March). Constructing a Supranational Constitution: Dispute Resolution and Governance in the European Community. *American Political Science Review*, 92(1), 63–81.
- Taylor, P. (1996). The European Union in the 1990s. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Tilly, C. (1994). States and Nationalism in Europe, 1492–1992. *Theory and Society, 23*(1), 131–146.
- Tortarolo, E. (1993). Europa. Zur Geschichte eines umstrittenen Begriffs. In A. v. Bogdandy (Ed.), *Die Europäische Option* (pp. 21–33). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- van Parijs, P. (1997). Should the European Union Become more Democratic? In A. Føllesdal & P. Koslowski (Eds.), *Democracy and the European Union* (pp. 287–301). Berlin, Heidelberg, u.a.: Springer Verlag.

- Vanhoonacker, S. (1994). From Maastricht to Karlsruhe: The Long Road to Ratification. In F. Laursen & S. Vanhoonacker (Eds.), *The Ratification of the Maastricht Treaty: Issues, Debates and Future Implications* (pp. 3-15). Maastricht: European Institute for Public Administration.
- Vogel, U. (1994). Das Geschlechterverhältnis in der Europäischen Bürgergesellschaft. In H. Mandt (Ed.), Die Zukunft der Bürgergesellschaft in Europa (pp. 59–70). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.
- Vogel, U. (1997). Emancipatory politics between universalism and difference: Gender perspectives on European citizenship. In P. B. Lehning & A. Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 142–160). London; New York: Routledge.
- Wallace, H. (1996). Die Dynamik des EU-Institutionengefüges. In M. Jachtenfuchs & B. Kohler-Koch (Eds.), *Europäische Integration* (pp. 141–165). Opladen: Leske + Budrich.
- Walzer, M. (1995). Pluralism: A Political Perspective. In W. Kymlicka (Ed.), *The Rights of Minority Cultures* (pp. 139–154). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ward, I. (1995). The Language of Rights and European Integration. In J. Shaw & G. More (Eds.), *New Legal Dynamics of European Union* (pp. 29–54). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Weale, A. (1997). Majority rule, political identity and European Union. In P. B. Lehning & A.
   Weale (Eds.), *Citizenship, democracy and justice in the new Europe* (pp. 125–141).
   London; New York: Routledge.
- Weiler, J. H. (1981). The Community System. The Dual Character of Supranationalism. *Yearbook of European Law, 1,* 257–306.
- Weiler, J. H. (1995). Der Staat 'über alles'. Demos, Telos und die Maastricht-Entscheidung des Bundesverfassungsgerichts. Available: http://www.law.harvard.edu/Programs/JeanMonnet/.
- Weiler, J. H. (1997). European Citizenship: The Selling of the European Union. In E. Antalovsky, J. Melchior & S. Puntscher Riekmann (Eds.), *Integration durch Demokratie: Neue Impulse für die Europäische Union* (pp. 265–296). Marburg: Metropolis-Verlag.
- Welz, C., & Engel, C. (1993). Traditionsbestände politikwissenschaftlicher Integrationstheorien:
   Die Europäische Gemeinschaft im Spannungsfeld von Integration und Kooperation. In A. v.
   Bogdandy (Ed.), *Die Europäische Option* (pp. 129–169). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.

- Wessels, W. (1992). Maastricht: Ergebnisse, Bewertungen und Langzeittrends. *integration*, *15*(1), 2–16.
- Wessels, W. (1995). Wird das Europäische Parlament zum Parlament? In A. Randelzhofer, R.
   Scholz & D. Wilke (Eds.), *Gedächtnisschrift für Eberhard Grabitz* (pp. 879–904).
   München: C.H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.
- Wessels, W. (1996). The Modern West European State and the European Union: Democratic Erosion or a New Kind of Polity? In S. S. Andersen & K. A. Eliassen (Eds.), *The European Union: How Democratic Is It*? (pp. 57–69). London; Thousand Oaks; New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Wessels, W., & Diedrichs, U. (1997, 10.4.). Wessels, W., & Diedrichs, U. (1997, 10.4.). A New Kind of Legitimacy for a New Kind of Parliament – The Evolution of the European Parliament(. *European Integration online Papers (EloP)* [Online] 1(6). Available: http://eiop.or.at/eiop/texte/1997-015a.htm.
- Whiteford, E. (1995). W(h)ither Social Policy? In J. Shaw & G. More (Eds.), *New Legal Dynamics of European Union* (pp. 111–128). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Wincott, D. (1995). Political Theory, Law, and European Union. In J. Shaw & G. More (Eds.), *New Legal Dynamics of European Union* (pp. 293–311). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Wincott, D. (1996). The Court of Justice and the European policy process. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *European Union. Power and Policy making* (pp. 170–184). London: Routledge.
- Wistrich, E. (1991). After 1992: The United States of Europe. London: Routledge.
- Woolf, S. (1996). Introduction. In S. Woolf (Ed.), *Nationalism in Europe 1915 to the present* (pp. 1–39). London: Routledge.
- Zellentin, G. (1993). Staatswerdung Europas? Politikwissenschaftliche Überlegungen nach Maastricht. In R. Hrbek (Ed.), Der Vertrag von Maastricht in der wissenschaftlichen Kontroverse (pp. 41–63). Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlag.